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BY THE COURT:

INTRODUCTION

[1] Following a30 day jury tria in the Supreme Court, convictions were entered
against the appellant on nine counts of theft of amounts exceeding five thousand
dollars contrary to s. 334(a) of the Criminal Code. He was sentenced to five years
incarceration in afederal institution. He appeals his conviction and applies for
leave to appeal his sentence.

[2] Each of the chargesrelatesto money that the appellant, aformer barrister,
either held in trust for his clients or to which he had access by way of power of
attorney. The allegations are that he wrongfully converted those funds either to his
own use or the use of others without the consent of the owners of the funds. The
Crown led evidence to support its theory that over a period of four yearsthe
appellant transferred funds belonging to the clients from the trust funds of one to
another and to his own use. The Crown alleged that, in total, an amount in excess
of $450,000 was involved in the transactions, and that in the final analysis,
approximately $243,000 was not restored to the clients. The Crown called two
witnesses qualified as experts, one accountant and one who offered opinion
evidence respecting altered documents. In addition to severa of the clients whose
trust funds were alleged to have been improperly appropriated, the Crown called
the appellant’ s bookkeeper and other lawyers and witnesses from various financial
institutions who identified documents. The Indictment contained one charge of
theft and one charge of fraud in respect of each of nine clients. The jury returned
guilty verdicts on all 18 charges and the nine fraud charges were stayed further to
the Kienapple principle.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

[3] Thelnformation was sworn on November 23, 1995. On February 4, 1997,
after numerous appearancesin Provincia Court, the details of which will be
provided as necessary hereafter, the appellant waived the right to a preliminary
inquiry. After many more appearances, applications, pre-trial conferences and
adjournments, the trial in the Supreme Court finally commenced on April 27, 1998,
before Justice David Gruchy. A jury was selected and the appellant was arraigned
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before the jury. The following day the appellant made several Charter motions
alleging adenial of theright to be tried within a reasonable time, and infringements
of hisrights under sections 7 and 11(c). As well, he made applications for
severance of counts and for a declaration of amistrial on the basis that the jury
selection process was flawed. These applications were all dismissed. Later that

day, the Crown agreed with the appellant that there had been aflaw in the jury
selection process and that as aresult, there should be a mistrial.

[4]  Gruchy, J. declared amistrial, dismissed the jury and adjourned the matter
to May 12,1998. On May 4™, the appellant brought two applications for a further
adjournment and arecusal application with respect to Justice Gruchy. These
applications were dismissed. On May 6", the appellant made another application
for an adjournment because of media coverage of the mistrial, which was likewise
dismissed.

[5] OnMay 12", after two more applications by the appellant, another jury was
selected and the appellant was placed in its charge. The following day, Gruchy, J.
dismissed an application by the appellant for the declaration of another mistrial.
The first witness was called on May 13". On Tuesday, May 19", Associate Chief
Justice K ennedy, as he then was, adjourned the trial to Monday, May 25" due to
the sudden ilIness of Justice Gruchy. On May 22™, Kennedy, A.C.J., determined
that because of the seriousness of Justice Gruchy’sillness, he was “unable to
continue” the trial pursuant to s. 669.2 of the Criminal Code. Although no
objection was taken to that ruling, the appellant was opposed to the substitution of
Kennedy, A.C.J., asthetrial judge on the basis that the appellant held a reasonable
apprehension of bias. Kennedy, A.C.J., dismissed the application for recusal.

[6] OnMay 25", after motions relating to disclosure, the trial recommenced
before the jury. On June 27", the jury returned its guilty verdicts. On September 1,
1998, the appellant was sentenced to 10 months imprisonment with respect to each
of counts 1, 13 and 17. On the remaining six counts, he was sentenced to five
months imprisonment on each count, all periods to be served consecutively, for a
total of five yearsimprisonment. In addition, arestitution order in the amount of
$196,094.15 was made in favour of the Nova Scotia Barristers' Society.

GROUNDS OF APPEAL
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[7]  Inthe notice of appeal dated September 29, 1998, the appellant stated the
following grounds of appeal:

1 THAT thefinding of the jury that the Appellant John Douglas Wood was
guilty of: isperverse, wrong in law and against the weight of the
evidence;

2. THAT the learned Justice Michagl MacDonald erred in law in refusing the
Appellant a stay in proceedings until state funded legal counsel could be
provided to the Appellant in the conduct of his criminal jury trial;

3. THAT the learned Justice David W. Gruchy erred in law in dismissing the
Appellant’s challenge to the array of jurors and permitting a new jury to
be drawn from Jury Panel X which had already been dismissed by virtue
of the earlier jury selection;

4, THAT the learned Justice David W. Gruchy erred in law in allowing a
flawed jury selection process to occur whereby the Appellant was forced
to have ajury with which the Appellant was not content;

5. THAT the learned Justice David W. Gruchy erred in law in failing to
exercise hisjurisdiction properly by granting the Appellant a reasonable
adjournment because of the extreme adverse publicity given to the trial
through the media; in particular the issue of FRANK magazine number
272 which contained an editorial challenging Justice David W. Gruchy’s
statements and the offensive personal attacks on the Appellant which
made it highly improbable to obtain an unbiased jury and afair trial for
the Appellant;

6. THAT the learned Justice David W. Gruchy erred in law in admitting
certain copies of banking documents into evidence at the Appellant’ strial;

7. THAT the learned Justice David W. Gruchy erred in law in denying the
Appellant an adjournment and a stay of proceedings pending the
appointment of state funded legal counsel for the Appellant John Douglas
Wood;

8. THAT the learned Justice David W. Gruchy erred in law in finding that
the Appellants Charter Rights pursuant to Sections 7, 11, 24(1) had not
been abridged or violated;

0. THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
dismissing the motion of the Appellant for the appointment of another
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justice to preside over the Appellant’ strial, whereby the Appellant’s
Charter Rights under Section 11 were violated or abridged;

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
admitting copies of cheques and banking documents pursuant to Section
24 of the Canada Evidence Act;

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
allowing Scott Brookfield to give expert evidence in forensic accounting;

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
dismissing the motion of the Appellant for amistrial because the
Appellant’s trial was not continuous and was interrupted and recessed for
days for reasons not connected in any way with the trial, the crown or the
accused,

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
allowing the Crown to give the jury large three ring binders with copies of
Crown exhibits highlighted with yellow marker to refer to while the
Crown expert witness Scott Brookfield gave his testimony. During the
testimony of the Crown’s expert witness Scott Brookfield the jury were
referred to the copies of yellow highlighted exhibits in the three ringed
binders instead of being shown origina unhighlighted exhibits;

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
allowing the records which the Appellant John Douglas Wood delivered to
Scott Brookfield by the authorization that Scott Brookfield held pursuant
to the regulations of the Barristers and Solicitors Act to be admitted into
evidence. The Appellant’s Charter Rights under Sections 8 and 24(1) and
24(2) were thereby violated or abridged;

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
admitting documents seized pursuant to search warrants as documents
found in possession and thereby deemed admissible;

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
ruling that copies of purported client ledger cards seized under search
warrant from the offices of Coopers Lybrand would be admitted into
evidence;

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law
by allowing the Crown Prosecutor to ask questions of Crown witnesses
based on facts not in evidence or proved,
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THAT the Appellant was deprived of hisright to afair trial by being
denied state funded legal counsel and thereby his Charter Rights under
Section 7 and Section 11 were violated or abridged;

THAT the Appellant was denied his right to be tried within a reasonable
timein violation of his Charter Rights under Section 11;

THAT the Appellant was deprived of hisright to afair trial and denied his
right to remain silent by being forced to conduct his own legal defence,
without legal counsel, before ajury and thereby his Charter Rights under
Section 7 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms were violated
or abridged,

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law
by permitting the Crown to call and present six new witnesses without
proper notice to the accused and which witnesses were not disclosed to the
accused,

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law
by interrupting the trial and breaking up the summation of the defence and
the crown from the charge to the jury so that the defence’ s summation to
the jury was completed two days before the charge to the jury was given;

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
his charge to the jury by failing to instruct the jury not to consider or
disregard that the Nova Scotia Barristers' Society had reimbursed two of
the alleged victims of the Appellant and further erred by instructing the
jury, without adequate explanation, to ignore the Appellant’ s request in
summation to send a message to whatever authorities regarding the
provision of legal counsel for accused personsin jury trials,

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law
by allowing evidence before the jury that the Appellant had been disbarred
by the Nova Scotia Barristers' Society for matters relating to the
Appellant’s alleged victims and in the same manner erred in law in
permitting evidence to be put before the jury that two of the Appellant’s
alleged victims had been reimbursed by the Nova Scotia Barristers
Society for losses occasioned by the actions of the Appellant;

THAT the learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
his charge to the jury by telling the jury that: the dates of the aleged
offences extended to March 31, 1995; the offences relating to John Ross
could mean either the father John Ross or the son John Ross; and that
there were two estates as aleged victims;
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26.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law
by failing to grant the motion of the Appellant to sever the counts on the
indictment;

27.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
his charge to the jury by following the outline of alleged offences as set
out in the flow chart prepared by Grant Shaw, which flow chart was not
admitted in evidence and objected to by the Appellant;

28.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law
by admitting into evidence photocopies of cheques and other documents
instead of original documents which were available but not produced at
trial;

29.  Such other grounds as may appear once the transcript is received and
reviewed.

30.  THAT thelearned Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in allowing
a Crown address to the jury which was improper prejudicial and which
misstated the facts and the evidence.

[8] Inaddition, in hisfactum the appellant listed three grounds of appeal relating
to sentence:

31 Did the learned Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy err in law in sentencing the
Appellant to consecutive terms of imprisonment when he earlier in the trial had
refused to sever the counts in the indictment so that whatever sentences which
were imposed on the Appellant ought then to have been concurrent?;

32. Did the learned Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy err in law in sentencing the
Appellant to alengthy prison term by failing to properly apply the principles of
sentencing and over emphasizing the principle of deterrence?,

33. Did the learned Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy err in law by making an order for
restitution against the Appellant contrary to any authority to make such an order

under the Criminal Code of Canada and without any factual basis to support the
order for restitution which he made?

[9] Wewill deal with these issues under the following subject headings:

1. Charter Issues:
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delay

right to counsel

right to remain silent
other trial fairness issues:
(i) bias

(i) jury selection

(ili) pre-tria publicity
(iv) expert witness

(v) disclosure

2. Documentary Evidence I ssues:
(@ the documents before the jury
(b)  banking documents
(c) investigative documents
(i)  compelled production
(i)  documentsfound in possession
3. Miscellaneous I ssues:
(@ unreasonable verdict
(b) continuoustrial
(c) improper questions
(d) jury charge
(e) evidence of disbarment and reimbursement by the Barristers Society
(f)  severance of counts
(g0 Crown addressto thejury
4, The Sentence Appeal
ANALYSIS
1 Charter Issues

(@)

delay
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[10] Section 11(b) of the Charter states:

11. Any person charged with an offence has the right

(b) to be tried within areasonable time;

[11] At the commencement of thetrial, the appellant made an application before
Gruchy, J. seeking a stay of proceedings as aremedy for a breach of hisright to be
tried within a reasonable time. Justice Gruchy found:

... | have concluded that there is absolutely no evidence before me of systemic
delay attributable to the Crown or, in fact, attributable to the system.

The Crown has been ready to proceed to trial and we are now once again
in that position. Itisclear that the accused initially tried [sic] to betried by judge
and jury, carrying with it the election of the right to a preliminary -- carrying with
that election, the right to a preliminary inquiry. It's clear that within days of that
preliminary inquiry, the accused waived hisright to it. That created adelay.

There then followed a series of adjournments as the accused had no
counsel. Mr. Wood was given every opportunity to obtain counsel. He has been
unable to obtain counsel, and that may, in certain circumstances, warrant a further
adjournment. In this case, however, as | have aready found, Mr. Wood is a
lawyer, atrained lawyer, and is quite capable of defending himself as he has
amply, ably demonstrated in the last two days.

There has been no extraordinary systemic delay attributable to any cause
in this particular case. . .

[12] The appellant submits that his right to be tried within a reasonable time as
provided for by s. 11(b) of the Charter was infringed. He says that the inordinate
delay between the laying of the charges and the trial, a period of two and one-half
years, was not his fault and he was prejudiced thereby because as aresult of the
delay, original documents and witnesses were not available for trial. He does not
specify which documents or witnesses.

[13] The Crown, in response, concedes that the delay of 29%2 months from the
laying of the charges to the commencement of the trial is of a sufficient length to
warrant an inquiry into the reasons for the delay, whether there was waiver of any
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of the time periods and whether there was prejudice to the appellant as proposed by

the Supreme Court of Canadain R. v. Morin (1992), 71 C.C.C.(3d) 1.

[14] InMorin, Sopinka, J. for the mgjority of the court, set out an approach to
determining whether an individual’ s right to be tried within a reasonable time has

been infringed commencing at p. 13:

The general approach to a determination as to whether the right has been
denied is not by the application of a mathematical or administrative formula but
rather by ajudicial determination balancing the interests which the sectionis
designed to protect against factors which either inevitably lead to delay or are
otherwise the cause of delay. As| noted in Smith, supra, "[i]t is axiomatic that
some delay isinevitable. The question is, at what point does the delay become
unreasonable?’ (p. 105). While the court has at times indicated otherwise, it is
now accepted that the factors to be considered in analyzing how long istoo long
may be listed as follows:

1. thelength of the delay;
2. waiver of time periods;
3. thereasonsfor the delay, including

(@) inherent time requirements of the case;
(b) actions of the accused,;

(c) actions of the Crown;

(d) limitson institutional resources, and
(e) other reasonsfor delay, and

4. prejudice to the accused.

These factors are substantially the same as those discussed by this court in Smith,
supra, at pp. 105-6, and in Askov, supra, at pp. 483- 4.

Thejudicial process referred to as "balancing” requires an examination of the
length of the delay and its evaluation in light of the other factors. A judicia
determination is then made as to whether the period of delay is unreasonable. In
coming to this conclusion, account must be taken of the interests which s. 11(b) is
designed to protect. L eaving aside the question of delay on appeal, the period to
be scrutinized is the time elapsed from the date of the charge to the end of the
trial: see R. v. Kalanj (1989), 48 C.C.C. (3d) 459, [1989] 1 S.C.R. 1594, 70
C.R. (3d) 260. The length of this period may be shortened by subtracting
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periods of delay that have been waived. It must then be determined whether this
period is unreasonable having regard to the interests s.11(b) seeksto protect, the
explanation for the delay and the prejudice to the accused. (at pp.13-14)

(emphasis added)

[15] InR.v.Smith (1989), 52 C.C.C. (3d) 97, referred to by Sopinka, J., in the
passage above, he indicated with respect to waiver by the accused that:

... Agreement by an accused to a future date will in most circumstances giverise
to an inference that the accused waives his right to subsequently allege that an
unreasonable delay has occurred. While silence cannot constitute waiver,
agreeing to afuture date for atrial or apreliminary inquiry would generally be
characterized as more than silence. Therefore, absent other factors, waiver of the
appellant’ s s.11(b) rights might be inferred based on the foregoing circumstances.
(at p. 109)

[16] Thetime periodsinvolved in this case can be categorized as follows:

1 | from the laying of the chargesto the first appearance 1 month

2 | from the first appearance to the scheduling of the preliminary 9 months

3 | adjournments of the preliminary at the appellant’ s request 5 months

4 | from the date the preliminary was waived to the first appearance in Supreme 9 days
Court

5 | from first appearance in Supreme Court to the date the trial was scheduled to 7 months
commence

6 | further adjournments at the request of the appellant 7 months

[17] Although theinitial one month delay may have been more for the
convenience of the Crown than for any other purpose, it is clear from the record
that the second delay of nine months was required because of a combination of the
then defence counsel’ s prior commitments and the Provincial Court docket. The
nine month adjournment was made at the joint request of the Crown and defence
counsel. The preliminary that had been scheduled to begin on September 3, 1996,
was adjourned at the appellant’ s request because he changed legal counsel. The
Crown consented to the adjournment for a period of two weeks so that new counsel
could advise the court of his available dates. When new defence counsel appeared,
he requested that the preliminary be adjourned to February, 1997. The third period
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of delay of atotal of five months was therefore also at the request of the appellant.

[18] Nine days after the preliminary was waived by the appellant, the parties
appeared in the Supreme Court to set adate for trial. At that appearance, defence
counsel advised that the first date he was available for the three weeks thought
necessary for trial would be in September. Therefore, with the consent of both
Crown and defence, the matter was scheduled for trial to commence on September
8, 1997. The sixth period of delay, the final seven months was necessary because
the appellant lost his Legal Aid funding afew weeks earlier and was then self-
represented. Thetrial did not go ahead on September 8" because the appellant was
not ready to proceed on his own and requested more time to prepare for trid. It is
clear that the appellant agreed to the further adjournment of the trial to April 27,
1998.

[19] Of thetotal delay of 30 months, all adjournments were expressly requested
by or consented to by the appellant or his counsel, except for the first period of one
month and the fourth period of nine days. In the absence of any evidence giving
rise to any other inference, we conclude that the appellant waived all time periods
other than 40 days. When the period of time that has been waived is subtracted
from the total, there is obviously no unreasonable delay. Furthermore, there was
absolutely no evidence of any prejudice to the appellant as aresult of the delay.
There was no error of law in failing to find a breach of the right to be tried within a
reasonable time.

(b) right to counsd

[20] The appellant submits that Justice Michael MacDonald, as he then was, and
Justice Gruchy erred in denying separate applications made by him for a stay of
proceedings pending the appointment of state-funded counsel, and that hisright to
afair trial and hisright to remain silent were infringed as aresult of having to
conduct hisown trial. Aswell, he argues that his performance as a self-represented
accused at trial was so deficient that he was deprived of the right to make afull
answer and defence.

[21] In August 1997, the appellant and his then counsel, Mr. Newton, appeared
before Justice Michael MacDonald for apre-trial conference and advised that the
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Legal Aid funding for Mr. Newton had ceased because a condition of the funding
had not been either met or waived. The nature of the condition was not revealed on
the record. Justice MacDonald permitted the withdrawal of Mr. Newton from the
case. The appellant then made an application for a stay which was heard the
following week on September 5, 1997. The application was dismissed. Relying on
thiscourt’sdecisionin R. v. Keating (1997), 159 N.S.R. (2d) 357, MacDonad, J.,
indicated that there is no constitutional right to state-funded counsel, and
concluded that because the appellant was legally trained and had received full
disclosure, he could, with the assistance of the trial judge, receive afair trial
without counsel. The trial was adjourned to April 27, 1998 in order to allow the
appellant more time to prepare.

[22] The appellant made a further application for a stay pending appointment of
state-funded counsel before Justice Gruchy on April 22, 1998. After alengthy
inquiry as to the nature of the case and the appellant’ s experience as aformer
barrister and solicitor, Gruchy, J. concluded that although the trial may be complex
in the sense that there would be much material to be processed and examined, the
material would not be such that the appellant would not be able to deal with it. He
considered that the law with respect to fraud and theft was not so complex and that
the appellant, with his background, should be able to deal withit.

[23] On May 14, 1998, after the first witness testified, the appellant again made
an application for a stay pending the appointment of state-funded counsel. Again,
Gruchy, J. dismissed the application, and after referring back to his earlier
decision, said:

... | concluded that Mr. Wood should have no difficulty understanding the
necessary concepts and | remarked as well that the documents basically are either
of his own making or of his own books and that consequently he should have no
difficulty with them.

Mr. Wood, | had to say very candidly to you, you've proven me to be correct.
You're very capable of handling your own defence. Far different than the average
case when we're looking at a man who has virtually no education but because he
has some experience in criminal law and some criminal record, we deem that he's
quite able to take care of himself in trials. In your case, you've proven me to be
absolutely correct. You're able to handle yourself remarkably well. 1f half the
lawyers who appear before me were doing aswell I'd be very pleased. But it isn't
the case. You're doing awonderful job. So anyway the application for stay will
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be refused and we will proceed.

[24] Both judges were correct in stating that there is no constitutional right to be
provided with trial counsel at the expense of the state. (See Keating, supra, and R.
v. Rowbotham, et al. (1988), 41 C.C.C. (3d) 1 (Ont.C.A.)) The only exception is
in the rare case where representation by counsel is essential to afair trial. If, in
exceptional circumstances, because of the seriousness and complexity of the case,
the accused isincapable of representing himself, the trial judge could determine
that a stay isthe appropriate remedy. Asnoted in R. v. Wilson (1997), 163 N.S.R.
(2d) 206 (C.A)):

... That determination must include at the minimum, an inquiry into: (a) the
personal abilities of the accused such as her educational and employment
background and whether she is able to read, understand the language, and make
herself understood; (b) the complexities of the evidence and the law on which the
Crown proposes to rely and; (c) whether there are likely to be any complicated
trial procedures such asavoir dire. The assessment should be undertaken in the
knowledge that it is the duty of the Crown to disclose its case to the accused and
the duty of thetrial judge to assist an unrepresented accused. (See R. v. Keating
(K.K.) (1997), 159 N.S.R. (2d) 357; 468 A.P.R. 357 (C.A.).

[25] Inthiscase, both judges made the appropriate inquiries. They determined
that the appellant, alaw school graduate with more than 20 years experience as a
barrister and as acivil litigator, was capable of understanding the case against him
and of conducting his defence. The evidence consisted mainly of documents from
his legal office which he either personally created or signed and that he had a
statutory duty to maintain. Aswell, Justice MacDonald granted an eight month
adjournment in order to allow the appellant more time to prepare for trial after Mr.
Newton was released. There was no error made by either MacDonald, J. or Gruchy,
J. in denying the applications for a stay of proceedings.

[26] The appellant also submits that the record now proves that he was
incompetent as counsel and he is therefore entitled to some Charter remedy. In
Schofield v. The Queen (1996), 148 N.S.R. (2d) 175, a case in which the appellant
alleged that there was a miscarriage of justice resulting from the ineffective
assistance of counsel, Chipman, J.A., for the court, said at p. 179:

Allegations by convicted persons that a miscarriage of justice has resulted
from ineffective assistance of counsel are often made. The subject was canvassed
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by thiscourt in R. v. Boudreau (1991), 105 N.S.R. ( 2d) 15.; . . . Dealing with the
appellant's criticism of his counsel, Macdonald, JA., said a p. 18:

It is an accepted constitutional principle in the United States that
the right of an accused to "have the assistance of counsel for his
defence" guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment, isto have the
effective assistance of counsel. Where, however, the defendant
alleges that the incompetence of counsel deprived him of the
effective assistance of counsel, the defendant must show, in
addition to the lack of competence on the part of defence counsel,
that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's
unprofessional errors, the result of the trial would have been
different . . .

... In Strickland v. Washington, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984), Justice
O'Connor, speaking for the court, said in part (p. 2068):

... The defendant must show that there is a reasonabl e probability
that, but for counsel’'s unprofessional errors, the result of the
proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is
aprobability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

In R. v. Rockwood (1989), 91 N.S.R.(2d) 305; 233 A.P.R. 305 (C.A.) this
court stated at p. 309 that in order to render the Charter rights conferred by ss. 7
and 11(d) meaningful, where an accused is entitled to have counsel, such counsel
must be sufficiently qualified to deal with the matter at issue with areasonable
degree of skill. Seealso R. v. Joanisse (R.) (1995), 85 O.A.C. 186; 102
C.C.C.(3d) 35 ( Ont. C.A.). The appellant who contends that he has not received
this protection must therefore establish: (a) that counsel at the trial lacked
competence, and (b) that it is reasonably probable that but for such lack of
competence, the result of the proceedings would have been different.

[27] Recently, the Supreme Court of Canada considered thisissuein R. v.
G.D.B., [2000] 1 S.C.R. 520, where Justice Mgjor, for the court, said:

1126 The approach to an ineffectiveness claim is explained in Strickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), per O'Connor J. The reasons contain a
performance component and a prejudice component. For an appeal to succeed, it
must be established, first, that counsel's acts or omissions constituted
incompetence and second, that a miscarriage of justice resulted.

127 Incompetence is determined by a reasonableness standard. The analysis
proceeds upon a strong presumption that counsel's conduct fell within the wide
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range of reasonable professional assistance. The onusis on the appellant to
establish the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the
result of reasonable professional judgment. The wisdom of hindsight has no place
in this assessment.

1128 Miscarriages of justice may take many formsin this context. In some
instances, counsel's performance may have resulted in procedural unfairness. In
others, the reliability of the trial's result may have been compromised.

129 In those cases where it is apparent that no prejudice has occurred, it will
usually be undesirable for appellate courts to consider the performance
component of the analysis. The object of an ineffectiveness claim is not to grade
counsel's performance or professional conduct. The latter isleft to the profession’s
self-governing body. If it is appropriate to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on
the ground of no prejudice having occurred, that is the course to follow
(Strickland, supra, at p. 697).

[28] Of course, in these cases, the appellants had been represented by counsel at
the trial. Often, where the ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged, the appellant
will claim that trial counsel did not follow hisinstructions, or did not call a
particular witness, or did not advise of the right to testify or to elect trial by another
method, or some similar failing. Here, the appellant does not specify how hisown
representation was deficient, other than pointing to the fact that he was convicted.
The appellant presented a vigorous defence with detailed and effective
cross-examinations of the witnesses. While choosing not to testify himself, he
presented the evidence of eight withesses. He made numerous motions both pre-
trial and during thetrial. The ability of the appellant to advance his defenceis
evident from the following example, an excerpt of a sophisticated submission made
by the appellant on avoir direinitiated by him, just prior to the Crown calling Mr.
Scott Brookfield, the accountant, as a witness:

SUBMISSION - MR. WOQOD (Voir Dire)

MR. WOOD Yes, My Lord. My concerns are that this material -- al the
material that was turned over to -- as the Crown says, that was turned over to Mr.
Brookfield by myself in the matter of hisinvestigation for the Nova Scotia
Barristers Society, it isthe view of the defence that that material is not properly
before the Court. 1t was obtained for these proceedings, according to my
recollection, by Cpl. Manthorne from the offices of Deloitte Touche by virtue of a
search warrant.

The defence has not seen the search warrant. |'ve obtained the statements
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and directives of the Minister of Justice and the Attorney General for the Province
of Nova Scotia regarding disclosure by the Crown in criminal cases; also from the
Department of Justice in Canada, the pre-trial disclosure statements, and in there,
it says that the defence is to be provided with a copy of any search warrant --

THE COURT Your difficulty isthat you haven't seen the search warrant?
MR. WOOD Haven't seen the search warrant. That's one thing, My Lord.

The other thing, My Lord, isthis. The documents or any materials turned
over to Scott Brookfield would have been turned over to Scott Brookfield in
compliance with provincial legislation, the provincial legislation with the Nova
Scotia Barristers and Solicitors Act and the regulations thereto. Under Regulation
48(1) and (2), sub-one and two, | would have been required by provincia law to
turn these documents over to Mr. Brookfield for the express purpose as contained
in the regulations for the investigation of the books and records of the solicitor for
the purposes of investigating the barrister and for maybe the report -- or any
report may be made the basis of disciplinary proceedings.

So my point here is that in compliance with provincial legisation, this
material may have been turned over to Mr. Brookfield for one purpose and one
purpose only. Later, unbeknownst to me, a search warrant was executed on
Deloitte Touche. Mr. Brookfield had this material. | had no opportunity to
challenge the search warrant.

The material was given to Mr. Brookfield in compliance with provincial
legidation. | had no alternative but to comply with the provincial legislation.
The federal legidation, the Criminal Code, regarding search warrants was a
different matter. The opportunity was not there for me to challenge that search
warrant, | was not informed of it, and the material was seized from Mr.
Brookfield without any notice to me whatsoever.

There are situations where material is seized from law offices regarding a
lawyer's client, and there is solicitor/client privilege claimed and the materia is
sealed. And then you go before ajudge and you find out whether or not the
material should be used. There are al kinds of safeguards built into the system to
deal with such things. But in my particular case, in compliance with provincial
legislation, material was turned over to Mr. Brookfield, and then this material
really ended up in the hands of the RCMP with a search warrant, with no
opportunity for me to challenge it whatsoever.

Now if that's allowed to stand, My Lord, what happens is you have a back
door for the police to obtain material that they might have more difficulty in
obtaining by way of a search warrant, because in compliance with provincia
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legislation, a person could comply with provincial legislation and then,
unbeknownst to them --

[29] Wearesatisfied from areview of the transcript that the appellant conducted
an effective defence on his own behalf. Our review of the record does not reveal
any specific mistakes made by, or general ineffectiveness of, the appellant that
would cause us to suspect that, but for such lack of competence, the result of the
proceedings would have been different.

[30] Incaseswhere an accused is self-represented the trial judge has a duty to
assist him. The extent of assistance required of thetrial judge is described by
Griffiths, JA. inR. v. McGibbon (1988), 45 C.C.C. (3d) 334, (Ont. C.A.) at p.
347.

Consistent with the duty to ensure that the accused has afair tria, the trial
judgeis required within reason to provide assistance to the unrepresented
accused, to aid him in the proper conduct of his defence, and to guide him
throughout the trial in such away that his defence is brought out with its full force
and effect. How far the trial judge should go in assisting the accused in such
matters as the examination and cross-examination of witnesses must of necessity
be amatter of discretion.

[31] Inthiscase, both trial judges, Gruchy, J. and Kennedy, A.C.J. were steadfast
and meticulous in their observation of that duty to assist. For example, at the last of
the pre-trial conferences, Justice Gruchy provided the following advice concerning
thetrial by jury process generaly:

Now then, that being the case, I'm going to tell you now and | almost say
this apologetically, Mr. Wood, but the law is clear that | must treat you, although
you are aformer lawyer, | must treat you as though you were any other litigant
before the court. So rather than go through the embarrassment of going through
thiswith the jury present, and asif we had never met, I'm going to say some
things to you now for the record, so that we won't have to go through it with the
jury and the public present.

You do, in fact, have the right and in this case even the obligation to
defend yourself. In so doing, you must obey my instructions as to the procedure
of thetrial. Indoing so, | will do my utmost to see that you receive afair trial.
When you come into the courtroom, the courtroom will be pretty full, as you can
imagine. And eventually, after we go through the jury process, and I'll be going
through that with you in afew minutes, ultimately the charges will be read to you.
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Asthe various counts are read, as each count is read, you may plead guilty
or not guilty to each of the counts. They won't be bulked, lumped together.
They'll beread individually. You may not use any other words other than "guilty”
or "not guilty".

Having gone through that process, the clerk will probably ask you to
confirm your pleas. If you plead "not guilty”, ajury will be empanelled. For this,
you will -- at all times you will be seated at counsel table, and | would suggest --
I'm not sure that it will be thisroom. It probably will not be. But you take a seat
in the front row, because as | said, you tend to speak with your head down. And
these are large rooms so that sound doesn't carry. Get yourself in a position
where the jury can see you and hear you. And we don't have prisoner's boxes or
benches here, as you know. You will bein court at al times.

The jurors names will be called, and I'll be going through some of that
with you in afew minutes. And the jury will be selected. Y ou may accept ajuror
by saying "content", or you may reject the juror by saying " challenge”. In which
case the juror will not serve on your case. That's the peremptory challenges. You
and the Crown have 12 peremptory challenges each. Am 1 correct in that --

MS. MACDONALD Yes, My Lord.

THE COURT Y ou may challenge any number of jurorsfor cause. That is, if the
name of the juror does not appear on the panel list, if the juror is not indifferent
between you and the Crown, that isimpartial as between you and the Crown, if
the juror has been convicted of a criminal offence and sentenced, and I'm not sure
just what that stipulation is. Do you remember, Ms. Macdonald, what the --

MS. MACDONALD I'msorry, My Lord?

THE COURT What's the stipulation about the criminal offence of ajuror?

MS. MACDONALD You mean if the juror has a criminal record?

THE COURT Yes.

MS. MACDONALD That person usualy is --

THE COURT There'sastipulation as to when it applies and when it doesn't
apply and I've forgotten, now, just what it is. It doesn't really matter. If ajuroris
not a citizen of Canada or if the juror is physically unable to perform ajuror's
duty, you can challenge for cause. There's a procedure, and if you want to
challenge for cause you will state it to me. Y ou must persuade me that thereisa
reason to challenge for cause. And then there is a procedure which we will
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If I direct that the challenge for cause will be allowed, then atrial
consisting of atrial of that particular juror will be conducted by two triers,
selected from the jury panel in accordance with the code. Y ou must remember
that you only have 12 peremptory challenges for which no reason is given. Once
these are used up, you are restricted to challenges for cause.

The right to challenge peremptorily alternates between you and the
Crown. You will have thefirst right with the first juror called, and then the right
to challenge will then alternate between you and the Crown. The clerks will be
keeping track of it, of your challenges. | will, too, but | find that | usually get
them mixed up. The clerk is so much better at it than | am.

Once ajuror has been accepted, then the juror will remain in the box and
be sworn. When 12 jurors have been accepted by you and the Crown, they will
constitute the jury.

| presume, Mr. Wood, that you'll want exclusion of witnesses.
MR. WOOD Yes, My Lord.

THE COURT Andif | don't do that automatically at the beginning of thetrial,
please remind me. And | want to ask you, you do understand the distinction
between the peremptory challenges and the challenges for cause?

MR. WOOD Yes, My Lord.

THE COURT Thank you. | will first address the jury. Now, I'm going to --
there's some exceptions that I'm going to make in this case, and I'll explain those
to you in afew minutes. Amongst other things, I'm going to give them binders,
but | will addressthe jury first. Once | address the jury, Crown counsel will
outline to the jury the case that she hopes to prove. Of course, as you know, you
must not interrupt during her initial presentation. The Crown will then call its
witnesses and of course, | don't need to remind you that you don't interrupt except
for a proper objection.

You are, of course, familiar with the method of making an objection. You
simply stand and say, My Lord, | object, or something to that effect. Y ou state
your objection. | may hear counsel on the matter. And in any event, | will rule
whether the question may be asked. Both you and the Crown are bound by my
rulings.

After Crown counsel has examined each witness, you may or may not,
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depending on what your desire is, question that witness on the evidence that has
been given. And you may bring out any evidence the witness may be able to give
in your favour. Y ou may make suggestions to the witness and invite the witness
to agree. In other words, cross-examination.

When the Crown has called all its witnesses, | will ask you if you propose
to call evidence. You may do so, if you wish, if you decide to do so. Y ou may
decide not to do so. That's entirely up to you. You are not required to do so.

Y ou may also give evidence yourself. But you have aright not to do so, if you
wish.

If you decide to give evidence or to give evidence, yourself, you will be
permitted to address the jury before doing so. Y ou may only outline to them the
nature of your defence and the evidence you intend to call. Y our witnesses and
you, if you decide to give evidence, can be cross-examined by the Crown counsel.
If you have a criminal -- you don't have a criminal record.

MR. WOOD No, My Lord.

THE COURT When the evidence has been given, you and the Crown will be
permitted to sum up to the jury. It's my function to control the proceedings. You
must, therefore, obey my instructions. | cannot conduct your defence for you any
more than | can prosecute the case against you. | will do everything possible to
guide you in matters of procedure and to see that you have afair trial. You on
your part, and | have no doubt that you will, must conduct yourself in an orderly
manner. | know that you will. Asl say, I'm almost apologetic for having said
those things to you.

Now, ordinarily thereisaroll call of thejurors. That'salong,
time-consuming, and frustrating experience. | have developed, and some other
judges have developed the method of having the jurors ticked off asthey enter the
courtroom. | shouldn't say "ticked off". Maybe that's the wrong expression.
Checked off as they enter the courtroom. And then when all are assembled, it is
announced to me who is not present, who did not respond.

| would like to do that in this case, because thereisalarge jury panel. By
the way, do you have your list?

MR. WOOD Yes, My Lord.

THE COURT It's being brought up to date. 1'm having various applications to be
excused funnelled through me on adaily basis. It'sredly just part of the
preparation of the list process. But by Monday, it should bein final form. |
would expect that there will be alarge number still won't turn up. Isthat
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satisfactory to you, Mr. Wood, that method of role call satisfactory to you?

MR. WOOD Yes, My Lord. | don't know if it's appropriate to mention it now,
but I've looked at the list and | can see two former clients of mine on the list and
my son's school teacher on the list.

THE COURT Would you make those known to Ms. Macdonald, and if you're
agreed I'll excuse them or to exempt them without requiring any use of
challenges. Would you remind me of that when we open trial on Monday.

| want to give you each a copy of the binder that I've prepared. And |
want your comments on them. | intend to go through them now. Tab 1is, of
course, the copy of the indictment. And Tab 2 are definitions of theft and fraud
taken directly from the code, but without quoting the code. . .

[32] That discussion continued for 20 more pages of transcript and then ended on
the following note:

THE COURT All right. Anything further, Mr. Wood? If at any time during the
trial you feel that you need assistance, other than counsel which | can't give you,
or if you need some explanation, smply say so to me and we will put the jury out.
Within the next two days, I'll be here. For the next two days I'll be here and
available. If there's anything bothering you, let me know. And even at this point,
if there's any change between you, if you come to any agreement with respect to
any matter, and in particular with respect to the mode of tria, let me know . . .

[33] We are satisfied that the trial judgesin this case offered significant
assistance to the appellant as and when required, and that the trial was not unfair as
aresult of the appellant having to represent himself.

(c) right toremain silent

[34] The appellant also submits that since he did not have counsel, he was not
entitled to the benefit of his constitutional right to remain silent. He was required to
speak, in the course of defending himself, by addressing the jury, cross-examining
witnesses and asking questions of his own witnesses. If he had been represented by
counsel, he would have been ableto sit quietly without saying anything. Thisisa
novel argument.

[35] Therelevant sections of the Charter are:
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7. Everyone hastheright to life, liberty and security of the person and the
right not to be deprived thereof except in accordance with the principles of
fundamental justice.

11.  Any person charged with an offence has the right

() not to be compelled to be awitness in proceedings against
that person in respect of the offence;

(d) to bepresumed innocent until proven guilty according to law
in afair and public hearing by an independent and impartial
tribunal;

13. A witness who testifiesin any proceedings has the right not to have any
incriminating evidence so given used to incriminate that witnessin any other
proceedings, except in a prosecution for perjury or for the giving of contradictory
evidence.

[36] Section 7 of the Charter includes aright to remain silent. (See R. v. Hebert,
[1990] 2 S.C.R.151). Generdly, theright to remain silent isthought to be a pre-
trial right, while its counterparts providing Charter protection during trial are the
rights against self-incrimination (s. 13), and the right not to be compelled as a
witness against oneself (s.11(c)). (See Hebert, supra, and Hogg, Constitutional
Law of Canada (3rd Ed. looseleaf) at pp. 44-49 et seq.)

[37] InR.v.Jones, [1994] 2 S.C.R. 229, Lamer, C.J., reviewed the rational e of
the principle against self-incrimination. Although in dissent on the applicability of
the principlesto that case, his statements of principle have since been adopted by
the mgjority of the court in R. v. White, [1999] 2 S.C.R. 97. At p. 250 of Jones,
the Chief Justice stated that:

The modern-day rationale for the principle against self-incrimination is
found in the two fundamental purposes for the principle that have been
recognized by this Court: (1) protection against unreliable confessions; and (2)
protection against the abuse of power by the state. Wilson J., dissenting,
elaborated on the latter purpose in Thomson Newspapers, supra, at p. 480:

Having reviewed the historical origins of the rights against
compellability and self-incrimination and the policy justifications
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advanced in favour of their retention in more modern times, |
conclude that their preservation is prompted by a concern that the
privacy and personal autonomy and dignity of the individual be
respected by the state. The state must have some justification for
interfering with the individual and cannot rely on the individual to
produce the justification out of his own mouth. Were it otherwise,
our justice system would be on a slippery slope towards the
creation of a police state.

As Michael Hor noted in "The Privilege against Self-Incrimination and
Fairnessto the Accused”, [1993] Sngapore J. Legal Sud. 35, at p. 35:

Conceptually, it would seem that if thereis any single
organizing principle in the criminal process, it is the right of
the accused to resist any effort to force him to assist in his
own prosecution. It provides substance to the common law
ideal of afair trial through an adversarial or accusatorial
process. The partiesto a criminal prosecution are seen as
competitors and the trial the competition. The prosecution isto
use its own resources to gather and marshal the evidence
without the unwilling assistance of the accused, and the
accused is left to defend himself if the prosecution succeedsin
making out a case against him. It is thought to be behind key
principles of criminal justice like the voluntariness rule for
confessions, the discretion to exclude improperly obtained
evidence and the presumption of innocence.

[38] Lamer, C.J. then lists specific rules, rights and privileges that are grounded
in the right against self-incrimination:

1. the confessions rule prohibiting the admission into evidence of improperly
obtained confessions,
2. the privilege against being compelled to testify against oneself;

3. the pre-trial right to silence, which includes the right not to have agents of
the police solicit admissions from a detainee who has expressly stated he
does not wish to speak to police;
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4, the specific Charter rightsin sections 10(b), 11(c), and 13 which are all
designed to protect against self-incrimination;

5. the right not to have illegally obtained evidence which conscripts the
accused used against him, as developed in the s.24(2) jurisprudence; and,

6. whatever residual self-incrimination content is found to exist on a case-by-
case basisin the s. 7 protection.

[39] If thereisany Charter protection of the type the appellant seeksin this case,
that is, protection from having to speak during trial while acting as one's own
counsel, it would be found in the residual s. 7 protection last enumerated by Lamer,
C.J. in Jones, supra. None of the other rights, privileges or rulesis pertinent.
Here, there is no confession, no compulsion or coercion to testify against himself,
no admission obtained by police agents, no attempt to use evidence given by the
appellant in a previous case, no statement obtained from the appellant before he
was advised of or given the opportunity to exercise hisright to counsel; and, no
illegally obtained conscripted or derivative evidence. The appellant was not forced
to give evidence or to even cross-examine witnesses or make submissionsto the
jury. The words spoken by him in court were not evidence used against him, and
the jury was so instructed, both in the opening charge on May 13:

There are several matters that are not evidence. They include, asI've said,
the addresses of counsel and the accused, the objections and questions by counsel,
evidence that | tell you to disregard, anything which you may see or hear when
you are not in your jury box even if it is said or done by a party or awitness, and
the indictment.

and in the final charge to the jury on June 26:

Y ou are by now, | would expect, aware that what counsel said to you,
what Crown counsel may have said from her position in this courtroom and what
John Wood said from his position, that is not evidence. That may have been their
view of the evidence or their opinion of the evidence but that is not evidence.
Evidence is what you heard under oath on the stand and what you are given by
way of the extensive documentation that has been produced in this matter.
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[40] Assistance in answering the question of whether the residual self-
incrimination content of the s. 7 principles of fundamental justice should be
extended to the words spoken by the appellant, as he asked questions and made
submissions, can be gleaned from two recent Supreme Court of Canada cases.
White, supra, and R. v. Darrach (2000), 148 C.C.C.(3d) 97. In White,
lacobucci, J., for the mgjority, described the principle as follows:

[41]

police pursuant to arequirement in the M otor Vehicle Act to report an accident,

44
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The jurisprudence of this Court is clear that the principle against self-
incrimination is an overarching principle within our criminal justice
system, from which a number of specific common law and Charter rules
emanate, such as the confessions rule, and the right to silence, among
many others. The principle can also be the source of new rulesin
appropriate circumstances. Within the Charter, the principle against self-
incrimination is embodied in several of the more specific procedural
protections such as, for example, the right to counsel in s. 10(b), the right
to non-compellability in s. 11(c), and the right to use immunity set out in
s. 13. The Charter also provides residual protection to the principle
through s. 7.

(2 The Importance of Context

That the principle against self-incrimination does have the status as an
overarching principle does not imply that the principle provides absolute
protection for an accused against all uses of information that has been
compelled by statute or otherwise. The residual protections provided by
the principle against self-incrimination as contained in s. 7 are specific,
and contextually-sensitive. This point was made in Jones, supra, at p. 257,
per Lamer C.J.,, andin S. (R.J.), supra, at paras. 96-100, per lacobucci J.,
where it was explained that the parameters of the right to liberty can be
affected by the context in which the right is asserted. The principle against
self-incrimination demands different things at different times, with the
task in every case being to determine exactly what the principle demands,
if anything, within the particular context at issue. See also R. v. Lyons,
[1987] 2 S.C.R. 309, at p. 361, per La Forest J.

In hisanalysis of the context to determine whether statements given to
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were admissible against the accused in a criminal trial, Justice lacobucci examined
the existence of coercion, the adversarial relationship at the time the statements
were made, the prospect of an unreliable confession and whether the use of the
statements would likely increase abusive conduct by the state.
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In Darrach, supra, the Supreme Court of Canada dealt with the

constitutionality of sections 276, 276.1 and 276.2, the so-called rape shield
provisions of the Criminal Code, and specifically, whether the provisions
infringed the accused’ s rights not to be compelled to testify against himself and his
right to afair trial. The accused objected to the necessity of providing an affidavit,
upon which he could be cross-examined by the Crown in avoir dire, setting out
his evidence in support of an application to introduce evidence of the
complainant’s prior sexual activity. Gonthier, J., for the court indicated, at 8 24:

[43]

... that while the right to make afull answer and defence and the principle
against self-incrimination are certainly core principles of fundamental justice,
they can be respected without the accused being entitled to “the most favourable
procedures that could possibly beimagined . . .

Of particular relevance to this case is the passage commencing at 8 47:

[47] The Court has not yet pronounced on whether avoir direis an evidentiary
proceeding and not a proceeding against the accused to which s. 11(c) applies.
The issue was not argued in this case. In any event, the particular voir dire
required by s. 276 does not offend the principle against self-incrimination because
the requirement that the accused establish alegitimate use for evidence of sexual
activity does not compel him to testify. Asthe Ontario Court of Appeal found in
R. v. Boss (1988), 30 O.A.C. 184 at p.198, 46 C.C.C. (3d) 523:

the tactical obligation which an accused may feel to testify does
not constitute alegal obligation or compulsion to testify. The use
of the word "compelled” in s. 11(c) indicates to me that the section
isreferring to alegal compulsion.... The decision whether or not to
testify remains with the accused free of any legal compulsion.

[48] The distinction between tactical and legal compulsion is consistent with
the definition of a compellable witness as "one who may be forced by means of a
subpoenato give evidence in court under the threat of contempt proceedings” (J.
Sopinka, S.N. Lederman and A.W. Bryant, The Law of Evidence in Canada (2nd
ed. 1999), at para. 13.46). Such was the case of the young offender inR. v. S
(RJ.),[1995] 1 S.C.R. 451,96 C.C.C. (3d) 1, 121 D.L.R. (4™ 589, who was
subpoenaed to testify at his co-accused's trial. Although compelled, hiss. 11(c)
right was not engaged because the proceedings were not against him (at para. 14).
His broader s. 7 privilege against self-incrimination was protected because he
received evidentiary immunity (at para. 204).

[49] Theaccused isnot forced to testify by s. 276. Nor is he coerced by the
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state in any way that engages Charter protection. Coercion to testify violates the
principle against self-incrimination, but as Lamer C.J. defined it, "[c]oercion ...
means the denial of free and informed consent” (R. v. Jones, [1994] 2 S.C.R. 229
at p. 249, 89 C.C.C. (3d) 353, 114 D.L.R. (4™ 645, cited in White, supra, at para.
42). In White, supra, at para. 76, lacobucci J. found that "[i]f a declarant givesan
accident report freely, without believing or being influenced by the fact that he or
sheisrequired by law to do so, then it cannot be said that the statute is the cause
of the declarant's statements”. In applications under s. 276, thereis free and
informed consent when the accused participates in order to excul pate himself. He
knows that he is not required to do so.

[50] Thereisanimportant difference between a burden of proof with regard to
an offence or an evidentiary burden, and the tactical need to respond when the
Crown establishes a prima facie case, in order to raise a reasonable doubt about it.
"[T]he criminal law does not allocate an evidentia burden to the accused to refute
the Crown's case and he or she may decline to adduce any evidence. Nevertheless,
if the accused decides not to call any evidence, he or she runs the risk of being
convicted" (Sopinka et al., supra, at para. 3.17). Where there is neither alega
obligation nor an evidentiary burden on the accused, the mere tactical pressure on
the accused to participate in the trial does not offend the principle against self-
incrimination (s. 11(c)) or theright to afair trial (s. 11(d)).

[51] Thetactical pressure on the accused to testify at the voir dire under s. 276
is neither a burden of proof nor an evidentiary burden. It derives from his desire
to raise a reasonable doubt about the Crown's case by adducing evidence of the
complainant's prior sexual activity. The sole purpose of thisvoir direisto
establish the admissibility of the evidence he proposes to call. As Dickson J. (as
he then was) put it, "[i]t is axiomatic that the voir dire and thetrial itself have
distinct functions. The function of the voir direisto determine admissibility of
evidence" (Erven v. The Queen,[1979]1 S.C.R. 926 at p. 931, 44 C.C.C. (2d) 76,
92 D.L.R. (3d) 507). If the evidence is found to be admissible under s. 276, it may
then serve to satisfy the evidentiary burden of adducing afactual basisfor a
defence (such as honest but mistaken belief in consent) or to raise areasonable
doubt about an element of the offence, but that is a different matter altogether.

[52] Nothingins. 276 obviates the Crown's basic duty to establish all the
elements of a sexual offence beyond a reasonable doubt. This burden of proof on
the Crown and the fact that the trial must be fair are the essence of the
presumption of innocence...

(emphasis added)
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[44] An application of these principlesto the specific novel argument raised by
the appellant leads to the conclusion that there has been no infringement of his
rightsto remain silent, to have afair trial and to be free from self-incrimination. To
begin with, there is no effort by the state to have the appellant assist in hisown
prosecution. The Crown’ s duty to lead the evidence to establish all the elements of
each offence beyond a reasonable doubt is not alleviated as a consequence of the
accused being self-represented. The accused is not compelled or coerced in any
way to participate or assist the Crown in its case. Asindicated above, his
participation did not create evidence which was used against him. Although the
words spoken by the appellant at issue here were expressed in the context of an
adversarial proceeding, they were not coerced and there is no suggestion that the
words resulted in a confession or admission, unreliable or otherwise,

[45] Asdeclared by lacobucci, J. in White, the right against self-incrimination is
not absolute. If the appellant’ s argument were to succeed, the effect would be that,
every person would have a constitutional right to state-funded counsel in cases
where their liberty interests were at stake. This would be allowing entitlement to
the most favourable procedures that could be imagined, which Darragh saysis not
required. Given the overriding duty of the trial judge to ensure trial fairness, and to
assist the accused, as set out above, there islittle prospect that allowing an accused
to be self-represented will increase abusive conduct by the state.

[46] Thetactical obligation that the appellant may have felt to cross-examine the
Crown’ s witnesses and make a submission to the jury, did not, as affirmed in Boss,
supra, constitute any legal obligation or compulsion, or an obligation to testify.
His decision to do so was not forced by the state in any way. It was, asin Darragh,
aparticipation in the processin order to excul pate himself. He knew he was not
required to do so. He was responding to atactical need to do so, not an evidentiary
burden or burden of proof. To repeat:

... Where there is neither alegal obligation nor an evidentiary burden on the
accused, the mere tactical pressure on the accused to participate in the trial does
not offend the principle against self-incrimination (s. 11(c)) or theright to afair
trial (s. 11(d)).

[47] Wethink that the issues raised by this ground of appeal are better considered
as an aspect of whether provision of counsel was required to have afair trial. As
indicated, the appellant’ s self-representation did not result in an unfair trial.
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(d) other trial fairnessissues
(i) bias

Asthe ninth ground of appeal, the appellant submits that Kennedy, A.C.J.

should not have been the judge selected to preside over the balance of histrial after
Gruchy, J. was unable to continue. The appellant indicates that there were two
reasons which gave rise to an apprehension of bias. In his submissions made
during the recusal application on May 22, 1998, the appellant described his
concerns as follows:

[49]

The information that | have which I've confirmed again in telephone
conversation this week was with a Justice of the Peace who worked in the Court
in Dartmouth at the time that Y our Lordship was a Provincial Magistrate there.
My matter came up and was in the mediain relation to Bar Society proceedings.
Thisindividua was present and informed me at the time that when my name
came up some individuals and Y our Lordship was present at the time and made
the comment that in so far as what was going on with me in the Bar Society was
that -- well, it was good that the Bar Society was getting rid of the bad apple.
Now thiswas not said to thisindividual. Thisindividua was present with some
other individuals. He's a Justice of the Peace. He's a senior tax auditor with the
Province of Nova Scotia. And Tuesday | confirmed my recollection of that with
him and he's -- | know he was certainly reluctant for me to raiseit. | was going to
raise the other issue about the executive assistant to Chief Justice Glube. Soin
my mind that creates a reasonable apprehension of bias. Also, in addition, the
unusual situation of having the executive assistant to Chief Justice Glube as a
Crown witness. And | expect that Y our Lordship has some dealings with her
fromtimetotime. Sol think there are certainly enough Judges available that
perhaps another Judge can be assigned. And I'm an unrepresented person and |
think that creates another unusual situation. | don't know of any other situation
likethis. I'vetried to find out whether or not anybody else has been forced to
represent themselvesin ajury trial in indictable offenses like thisand | can't find
any. Thank you.

Kennedy, A.C.J., in dismissing the application said:

Thank you, Mr. Wood. Let me deal with -- Mr. Wood is raising what
amounts to a suggestion of reasonable apprehension of bias should | continue to
hear this matter or take over the matter. Thefirst concern that he has, as|
understand it, is that he's been told by a Justice of the Peace that a conversation
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was had in my presence that the Justice of Peace was privy to in which Mr. Wood
was described as a bad apple and that it was good that the Bar was getting rid of a
bad apple. Something to that effect.

Firstly, if the Justice of the Peace that you speak of is Mr. Khan, and |
believe that you mentioned that name during the telephone conversation, | did
have contact with Mr. Khan on two or three occasions when | was doing the
educational process for the Justices of the Peace two or three years ago. It seems
to me that he participated as an experienced Justice so that it is possible that |
would have had conversation with him or a conversation of that nature may have
been had in my presence. | know that on one occasion, at least, he was with a
group of other people involved in the educational process who had dinner -- we
had dinner at arestaurant in Sydney so that it is correct that | would have beenin
his presence and perhaps -- | have no idea whether anything of that nature was
said, quite frankly. Firstly, I did not know Mr. Wood -- of you at the time. | had
no knowledge of you one way or the other. And, secondly, | do not remember a
conversation of that nature at all.

Having said that, you have expressed a concern that | understand. |
respect the concern but | will say to you that | do not consider that suggestion to
create a reasonable apprehension of bias. | have no opinion whatsoever in
relation to your functioning as alawyer and whether it was a good idea or a bad
ideafor the Bar Society to have taken the action that they did. If somebody said
that in my presence it was unfortunate. | don't know if they did but | would not
have joined in the opinion at all. | had no knowledge whatsoever. And certainly
if the opinion was expressed it would not effect my ability to provide afair trial at
this stage.

The second issue raised is specific to the executive assistant to the Chief
Justice who | anticipate will be awitnessin this matter, Kerry Oliver. Itismy
understanding that Kerry Oliver and Mr. Wood at one time had arelationship. It
is correct that | have some contact with Kerry Oliver. But Kerry Oliver reportsto
the Chief Justice, not to me, and my contact with her, and | want it on the record,
is no more than any Justice of this Court would have in that she determines rota.
By that | mean that she schedules Judges various places. Having said that, | will
put on the record that she does not schedule me into this case. Whether | take this
case over or not is a determination that | make and is based on availability and
background rather than any determination of Kerry Oliver. So that | do have
some contact with her, as do all Judges of this Court, let the record reflect. But
my contact with her is no more than any other -- or, at least, has been no more
than any other Justice of this Court would have. She has direct contact with the
Chief Justice and the Chief Justice, let nobody misunderstand, runs this Court.

So that again | would -- | respect your raising that issue. | can only
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respond as | have truthfully, that | believe that my contact with Kerry Oliver
would not cause me in any way to be biased in this matter. | certainly have never
discussed Mr. Wood with her. 1 only know of the situation as a result of what
people tend to know, | guess. | don't even know how | would have ever
discovered that.

| want to put on the record that I've been 20 yearsin thisbusinessand it is
my job, it is my function to provide fair trials in which the presumption of
innocence is absolutely paramount and in which accused persons get every proper
opportunity to make full answer and defence. I've been doing it for 20 years now.
| do not anticipate that thistrial will be any different than the 6,000 or so that I've
doneto date. | can say thisthat were| to believe that | were the least biased in
this matter | ssmply would not try it. 1 would not preside over the jury that will
determine ultimately guilt or non-guilt in relation to the matter. | do respect Mr.
Wood's concerns. He has expressed them openly. 1'm glad they're expressed at
the beginning of the process. But after having heard those concerns, my
determination is that there is no actual bias and there should not be any
reasonably perceived bias. No reasonably perceived biasin relation to this
matter. | will be prepared to sit and re-commence the trial on Monday morning.
Thank you, Mr. Wood. Thank you, Crown.

[50] Theonly caserelied upon by the appellant to support his submission that
Kennedy, A.C.J. erred in law in refusing to allow the recusal motion in this manner
iIsR.v.R.D.S,, [1997] 3 S.C.R. 484. In that case, Cory, J., for the mgjority of the
Court, set out the test for bias and commented upon its application, commencing at
§111:

The manner in which the test for bias should be applied was set out with
great clarity by de Grandpré J. in his dissenting reasonsin Committee for Justice
and Liberty v. National Energy Board, [1978] 1. S.C.R. 369, at p. 394:

[ T]he apprehension of bias must be a reasonable one, held by
reasonable and right-minded persons, applying themselves to the
guestion and obtaining thereon the required information. . . . [The]
test is "what would an informed person, viewing the matter
realistically and practically -- and having thought the matter
through -- conclude. . . ."

This test has been adopted and applied for the past two decades. It contains a two-
fold objective element: the person considering the alleged bias must be
reasonable, and the apprehension of bias itself must also be reasonable in the
circumstances of the case. See Bertram, supra, at pp. 54-55; Gushman, supra, at
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para. 31. Further the reasonable person must be an informed person, with
knowledge of al the relevant circumstances, including "the traditions of integrity
and impartiality that form a part of the background and apprised also of the fact
that impartiality is one of the duties the judges swear to uphold”: R. v. Elrick,
[1983] O.J. No. 515 (H.C.), at para. 14. See also Sark, supra, at para. 74; R. v.
Lin, [1995] B.C.J. No. 982 (S.C.), at para. 34. To that | would add that the
reasonable person should also be taken to be aware of the social reality that forms
the background to a particular case, such as societal awareness and
acknowledgement of the prevalence of racism or gender bias in a particular
community.

The appellant submitted that the test requires a demonstration of "real
likelihood" of bias, in the sense that bias is probable, rather than a"mere
suspicion”. This submission appears to be unnecessary in light of the sound
observations of de Grandpré J. in Committee for Justice and Liberty, supra, at pp.
394-95:

| can see no real difference between the expressions found in the
decided cases, be they 'reasonable apprehension of bias,
'reasonabl e suspicion of bias, or 'real likelihood of bias. The
grounds for this apprehension must, however, be substantial and |
entirely agree with the Federal Court of Appeal which refused to
accept the suggestion that the test be related to the "very sensitive
or scrupulous conscience”.

(emphasisin original)

Nonethel ess the English and Canadian case law does properly support the
appellant's contention that a real likelihood or probability of bias must be
demonstrated, and that a mere suspicion isnot enough. [citations omitted]

Regardless of the precise words used to describe the test, the object of the
different formulations is to emphasize that the threshold for a finding of real or
per ceived biasishigh. It isafinding that must be carefully considered since it
callsinto question an element of judicial integrity. Indeed an allegation of
reasonabl e apprehension of bias calls into question not simply the personal
integrity of the judge, but the integrity of the entire administration of justice. See
Sark, supra, at paras. 19-20. Where reasonable grounds to make such an
allegation arise, counsel must be free to fearlessly raise such allegations. Y et, this
isaserious step that should not be undertaken lightly.

The onus of demonstrating biaslieswith the person who isalleging its
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existence: Bertram, supra, at p. 28; Lin, supra, at para. 30. Further, whether a
reasonable apprehension of bias arises will depend entirely on the facts of the
case.

Courts have rightly recognized that there is a presumption that judges will
carry out their oath of office. See R. v. Smith & Whiteway Fisheries Ltd. (1994),
133 N.S.R. (2d) 50 (C.A.), and Lin, supra.Thisis one of the reasons why the
threshold for a successful allegation of perceived judicial biasis high. However,
despite this high threshold, the presumption can be displaced with "cogent
evidence" that demonstrates that something the judge has done givesriseto a
reasonable apprehension of bias. See Smith & Whiteway, supra, at para. 64; Lin,
supra, at para. 37. The presumption of judicial integrity can never relieve ajudge
from the sworn duty to be impartial.

(emphasis added)

[51] Inapplying that test to this case, it is abundantly clear that the appellant has
not met the threshold of presenting cogent or substantial evidence required to
establish areal likelihood of a reasonable apprehension of bias. There was nothing
but mere suggestion that the trial judge had made the alleged comment and that it
referred to the appellant, and bare speculation that the trial judge’ s acquaintance
with one of the Crown witnesses would have had any effect on hisimpartiality and
ability to preside fairly and impartially over thisjury trial. There was no error
requiring the intervention of this court.

(i)  jury selection

[52] Inthethird and fourth grounds of appeal, it is submitted that the jury
selection process was flawed as a result of selecting the jury from the same array of
potential jurors that was used for the selection of the jury for the mistrial. The
appellant says that he was not content with the jury that judged him and that as a
result of the flawed selection process, hisright to afair trial by an impartial

tribunal was infringed.

[53] During the selection of the jury for the trial that was ultimately aborted, the
appellant’ s request to challenge a legal secretary for cause was denied by Justice
Gruchy, which led to the Crown later agreeing that there should be a mistrial.
After the mistrial was declared, thetrial was adjourned from April 28" to May
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12", the next date that the original panel of jurors had been previously ordered to
return. On May 12", the appellant challenged the array, saying:

Asfar asthe challenge to the array is concerned, thisjury panel haslost its
characteristic of randomness, it having been sitting here before while | was
arraigned beforeit. These are the same people that were here on the 27th of
April, so it is not arandom selection. These jurors have sat here and they, in fact,
have heard me arraigned twice on the same charges, which is highly unusual. This
panel was already dismissed before, and now they're reconstituted here for a
retrial.

My main thrust of argument here isthat there is a problem with partiality
inthisjury panel in that they have already been here before in this case and very
much would suggest that the random nature of the selection of ajury panel has
been impaired in this situation since this jury panel has already been involved in
this case and dismissed. And that'swhat | have to say on the challenge to array.

[54] Justice Gruchy dismissed the application, indicating that the appellant had
not shown a prima facie case of any of the three criteriaof s. 629(1) of the
Criminal Code which states:

629 (1) Theaccused or the prosecutor may challenge the jury panel only
on the ground of partiality, fraud or wilful misconduct on the part of the sheriff or
other officer by whom the panel was returned.

(2) A challenge under subsection (1) shall be in writing and shall state
that the person who returned the panel was partial or fraudulent or that he wilfully
misconducted himself, as the case may be.

3 A challenge under this section may be in Form 40.

[4] Therewas no evidence or submission suggesting that the method used to
choose the specific persons to form the panel was flawed in any sense; rather the
appellant argues that, since the earlier panel heard hisinitial arraignment, a new
panel was required to ensure impartiality. Section 629(1) precludes challenges for
reasons other than partiality, fraud or misconduct on the part of the person by
whom the panel was returned, and there is no other basis or authority cited to
support a challenge to the whole array. The third ground of appeal is therefore
dismissed.

[5] The appellant also submits that Gruchy, J. erred in law in alowing him to be
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tried by ajury with which he was not content. This argument is based on the fact
that the name of the same juror that the appellant wished to challenge for cause on
April 27" was drawn by the clerk on May 12™. Previously, at a pre-trial conference
held after the mistrial, Justice Gruchy had agreed that each juror drawn would be
subjected to a challenge for cause on the basis that he or she may not be impartial
because of pre-trial publicity. In addition, the 12 former jurors were excused from
the panel. When the legal secretary was called, she was questioned by thetria
judge in the same manner as each other juror was, as to where she worked, whether
she had read anything about the trial, whether she had obtained information from
any other source and whether she thought she could judge the case fairly and
impartialy. On the basis of her evidence, the two triers, appointed pursuant to the
procedure authorized by s. 640 of the Code, found her to be impartial. The
appellant then exercised a peremptory challenge and she was thus excused.
Although in his factum the appellant indicates that he “was forced to use his last
remaining challenge to reject this potential juror”, he is mistaken in that respect.
The transcript reveals that it wasin fact his seventh challenge. He still had five
more challenges | eft at that point.

[6] The appellant renewed his objections respecting the jury panel and the
selection process after the full jury was chosen. His application for an adjournment
to obtain a new panel was once again dismissed.

[7]  After considering the submissions made on this point, we are satisfied that
there was no unfairness in the selection of the jury. The appellant has not submitted
that the procedure used to conduct the challenge for cause was defective. Nor has
he suggested that the finding of the triers with respect to the impartiality of any
juror was suspect. The appellant provides no authority for the proposition that
selecting the jury from the same panel that was used to select the first jury was an
error in procedure or law. We agree with the Crown that the general challenge for
cause with respect to impartiality ensured the impartiality of the resulting jury. The
fourth ground of appeal is dismissed.

(ili)  pre-trial publicity
[59] The appellant submits that in addition to the normal adverse publicity

surrounding atrial of this nature, he was subjected to an unprecedented and
unacceptable level of prejudice asaresult of articles which he says were designed
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to “bait and taunt Justice Gruchy” and “ calculated to do the utmost damage to
[him] and histrial”, contained in the then recently published “FRANK” magazine,
issue 272. It issubmitted that Justice Gruchy erred in not granting his request,
made on May 4, 1998, for an adjournment of the trial and that the result was that it
was “impossible to obtain an unbiased, untainted jury and afair and impartial
trial...”.

[60] In the decision dismissing the application for an adjournment, Gruchy, J.
referred to an earlier request for an adjournment because of pre-tria publicity as
follows:

| concluded then that the publicity may not be so pervasive or adverse that
the empanelling of an impartial jury would be impossible. The appropriate use of
achallenge for cause procedure would, in my opinion, result in afair and
impartial jury. Informing that opinion, | examined cases and procedures adopted
and/or referred to in such notorious trials or cases as the Bernardo/Holmolka
trials, the Mount Cashell trials and the case of R. v. Phillips referred to by the
Crown and also referred to -- in the text to which the Crown referred and as well
in Ewaschuk.

| also referred to the process and procedure | adopted and followed in R.
v. MacNell, a notorious murder arising -- or atrial arising from arobbery of a
McDonald's restaurant when despite certain bans of publication, the publicity
prior to and during the trial was continuous and relentless.

[61] Then, specifically in relation to the new request for an adjournment because
of the FRANK magazine articles, he continued:

... The accused requested a further opportunity to apply to adjourn thetrial
because of the pre-trial publicity, particularly in relation to Frank. The Crown
agreed to my hearing the application today. | have now reviewed the publication
and questioned him.

It isfirstly important to put Frank in it's own sort of context. It appearsto
be a scandal sheet replete with what seems to me to be rumours, insinuations and
innuendo. A fair minded person would, assuming such a person would read the
publication, put in the article into that context. The particular edition has a
headline on its front page concerning the accused together with a photograph -- a
facia photograph of the accused and his brother. The headlineisinsulting. The
articlein question -- the articlesin question are on pages8 and 9. The article
seems to be based on some sort of an incomprehensible hatefulness and spite.
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The articles are hurtful and scandalous. | cannot imagine what would be the
motivation of such articles. | do not know what the circulation of Frank is.

The accused has said that it's available in virtually all coffee shops and
supermarkets within the city and | accept that statement.

| have considered what is the cumulative effect of Frank's article taken
together with the reports | had previously considered. | have considered that the
effect of these articles considered by themselvesin their totality and their
cumulative effect can be overcome by a correct jury selection process. | will
continue the vetting process by addressing the jury panel as awhole and
effectively repeating to each juror the invitation for applications to be excused.
That process will be followed by the specific challenge for cause based in part on
the publicity. Finally, the Crown and the accused may exercise their peremptory
challenges. These processes are all in addition to my right to excuse jurors
pursuant to Section 632 of the Code and, in particular, for personal interest,
relationship with various persons named in this action and for personal hardship.
I've already suggested to the Crown and to the accused certain questions to be put
to the prospective jurors on the challenge for cause.

A further question or questions may be added related to Frank, if that is
the wish of counsel. Subject, of course, to my overriding authority. The
application for adjournment will be refused. | also decline to reconsider my
previous decisions on the matter of stay and adjournments. . .

[62] Asoutlined abovein part 1(d)(ii), each potential juror was subjected to a
challenge for cause pursuant to s. 638(1)(b) on the basis that she may not be
indifferent and was asked the following questions:

... have you read, heard or seen anything about this case in any of the media,
newspapers, radio, television, magazines or any other publications?

Have you obtained information about this case from anywhere else?

Have you formed an opinion of the guilt or innocence of John Wood, the
accused?
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Is there any reason you could not judge this case fairly and impartially according
to the evidence heard at trial and in accordance with my directions asto the law?

[63] These questions were drafted in consultation with the Crown and the
appellant during a pre-trial conference held on May 8, 1998. The appellant
appeared content with the form of the questions.

[64] Aswell, thetrial judge’s opening address to the jury, immediately after they
were all selected, included the following instruction:

Sometimes criminal trials receive coverage in newspapers, or on radio, or
on television or in magazines. Do not read about the case in the newspaper or
watch or listen to television or radio reports about it. | know that you're human.
If it's on television or if it's on the radio go over and turn it off or go out of the
room. Your decision on this case must be made solely on the evidence that you
see and hear presented at trial. There is no other source of information.

| want to repeat the warning in relation to this case. During jury selection
process you were questioned about the publication or dissemination of news
reports about this case. If you have seen or heard anything about this case or if
during trial you see or hear anything about this case through the news media you
areto ignoreit, put it out of your mind. The only evidence you are to consider
will be that which is produced here in this courtroom during this trial.

[65] The next morning the jury received the same instructions as well as the usual
opening instructions respecting the presumption of innocence and the burden and
standard of proof.

[66] The extensive challenge for cause procedure and the numerous cautions
provided to the jury, were sufficient to ensure an impartial jury and the trial could
not, in these circumstances, be found to be unfair on the basis of pre-trial publicity.
We are satisfied that the trial judge properly exercised his discretion in refusing the
request for an adjournment and that there was no injustice as aresult.

(iv) expert witness

[67] Inhis11™ ground of appeal, the appellant argues that Mr. Scott Brookfield
should not have been allowed to give expert testimony in forensic accounting. He
submits that there was nothing in the documentary evidence introduced which

required expert opinion because it was not complicated, and furthermore, that Mr.
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Brookfield’ s association with the Nova Scotia Barristers' Society should have
precluded him from testifying for the Crown. The appellant explains his position
on this point, in hisfactum, asfollows;

... The testimony of Mr. Brookfield confirmed that he was not in court merely as
an expert witness. Contrary to instructions given by Justice Gruchy early in the
trial Mr. Brookfield added prejudicial comment to his evidence in relation to the
Appellant. At one point in histestimony Mr. Brookfield deliberately blurted out
before the jury that two of the Appellant’s clients had been reimbursed by the
Nova Scotia Barrister’s Society. By agreement reached before Justice Gruchy no
information or comment regarding matters between the Nova Scotia Barrister’s
Society and the Appellant were to be divulged to the jury. Mr. Brookfield proved
to be an adversarial, hostile witness who became an advocate for his frequent
employer in the matter of re-imbursement to the Nova Scotia Barrister’s Society.
Mr. Brookfield' s testimony went beyond that of an expert witness and was
deliberately calculated to prejudice the Appellant before the jury.

[68] Mr. Brookfield was examined and extensively cross-examined asto his
gualificationsin avoir direfor that purpose and after hearing submissions from
counsel, Kennedy, A.C.J. concluded hisruling as follows:

| am satisfied on the basis of the background, professional and educational
background, and, just as significantly, the experience of the witness, which has
been extensive in relation to investigations of the nature, that apparently he's
about [to] testify to in this matter -- | am satisfied based on his combination of his
educational background and work experience that he is an expert primarily in the
field of accounting and that he has devoted substantial period of his career to the
more specialized area of the investigation of barristers, lawyers, for his client, the
Barristers Society, and also has done considerable work in relation to other
groups such as insurance companies and corporations with respect to the question
of whether fraud has been committed.

I'm satisfied that clearly Mr. Brookfield is an expert in the area of
accounting. More particularly, | guess, if we haveto use theterm” forensic
accounting” -- that is, accounting that is specific to the investigation as to whether
or not acriminal act has taken place -- and of course whether an act is criminal or
not is not for the accountant. They produce the evidence and it is for persons
legally trained to determine whether that evidence satisfies the criteria of criminal
specific to any provisions of the Criminal Code. In thisinstance, I'm satisfied that
he can testify as an expert in the area of accounting and specifically and I'll use
the term "forensic accounting.”
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[69] After that ruling, the appellant objected to the admissibility of Mr.
Brookfield’ s evidence on the two bases that he now argues, that is, that expert
evidence was not necessary, and that Mr. Brookfield was not an independent and
impartial witness. Kennedy, A.C.J,, ruled asfollows:

Mr. Brookfield is not a pure expert in the sense that -- Mr. Brookfield is
an investigator in this matter.

His use is the same use as the Bar Society would have paid hisfeesfor;
that is, to take all of the banking documentation and information and pull it all
together and follow the trail, follow the money. That's what accountants regularly
are required to do, part of why we hire them, and even though we may know what
bank drafts are and even though we may know what a deposit slip looks like, we
nevertheless regularly retain accountantsto pull it al together for us.

So that Mr. Scott Brookfield is not the same kind of an expert, for
instance, that comes before the Court because somebody found his namein a
magazine and flies him in from Los Angeles. Mr. Scott Brookfield apparently
investigated this matter on behalf of the Barristers' Society of the Province of
Nova Scotia but investigated it as an accountant. As an accountant, so that in the
process of testifying as to his investigation and what he found in the course of that
investigation, he will no doubt wish to express some opinion evidence that would
be the kind of information that an expert, a professional accountant could provide
that alawyer couldn't or alay person could not provide.

That will be, | presume, incidental to his primary function as a witness,
and that is as an investigator of this matter just as surely relevant to the
allegations made before this court as a police officer investigating a murder would
be. To the extent that that police officer might have specific ballistic training, for
instance, might express opinions as to some ballistic specifics of the testimony,
but, nevertheless, whether he was involved in the expression of opinion or not,
would be awitness in the sense that he had participated in the investigation.

It is my response to the motion made by Mr. Wood that, firstly, Mr.
Brookfield is not the classic expert witness that M ohan contemplates, but to the
extent that he may express -- may express opinion evidence collateral to his
evidence that would be better characterized as investigatory evidence, that that
evidence would be relevant -- has the potentiality of being both relevant and
necessary in the process of explaining hisinvestigation of the matter. 1t may well
be that when he attempts to express an opinion in relation to some specific, that |
may find it neither relevant or necessary. I'll deal with that on an ad hoc specific
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basis. | do not see that the testimony of the witness, Scott Brookfield, isin any
way compromised as an accountant, as an expert accountant, isin any way
compromised by the criteria set out in Mohan.

[70] InR.v.Mohan (1994), 89 C.C.C. (3d) 402, the Supreme Court of Canada
reviewed the principles guiding the receipt of expert evidence. Sopinka, J., writing
for the Court restated the general criteria applicable at 8 17:

Admission of expert evidence depends on the application of the following
criteria

(a) relevance; (b) necessity in assisting the trier of fact; (c) the absence of any
exclusionary rule; (d) aproperly qualified expert.

[71] Asto the necessity factor inissue here, Sopinka, J. elaborated at § 21.

In R. v. Abbey, supra, Dickson J., as he then was, stated, at p. 42:

With respect to matters calling for special knowledge, an
expert in the field may draw inferences and state his opinion. An
expert's function is precisely this: to provide the judge and jury
with a ready-made inference which the judge and jury, dueto the
technical nature of the facts, are unable to formulate. "An expert's
opinion is admissible to furnish the Court with scientific
information which is likely to be outside the experience and
knowledge of ajudge or jury. If on the proven facts ajudge or
jury can form their own conclusions without help, then the opinion
of the expert is unnecessary” (Turner (1974), 60 Crim. App. R. 80,
at p. 83, per Lawton L.J.)

This pre-condition is often expressed in terms as to whether the evidence
would be helpful to the trier of fact. The word "helpful” is not quite appropriate
and setstoo low a standard. However, | would not judge necessity by too strict a
standard. What isrequired is that the opinion be necessary in the sense that it
provide information "which islikely to be outside the experience and knowledge
of ajudge or jury": asquoted by Dickson J. in R. v. Abbey, supra. . .

[72] Recently,inR.v.D.D., 2000 S.C.C. 43, Mgor, J., for the mgjority,
emphasized the dangers inherent in expert evidence and elaborated further on the
necessity requirement at § 47:
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| agree with the Chief Justice that some degree of deference is owed to the
trial judge's discretionary determination of whether the Mohan requirements have
been met on the facts of a particular case, but that discretion cannot be used
erroneoudly to dilute the requirement of necessity. Mohan expressly states that
mere helpfulnessistoo low a standard to warrant accepting the dangers inherent
in the admission of expert evidence. A fortiori, afinding that some aspects of the
evidence "might reasonably have assisted the jury"” is not enough. As stated by
Sopinkaet al.,

expert evidence must be necessary in order to allow the fact finder:
(1) to appreciate the facts due to their technical nature, or; (2) to
form a correct judgment on a matter if ordinary persons are
unlikely to do so without the assistance of persons with special
knowledge.

(J. Sopinka, S. N. Lederman and A. W. Bryant, The Law of Evidence in Canada
(2nd ed. 1999), at p. 620, citing Mohan, supra, at p. 23.)

[73] Thefollowing excerpt of the direct evidence of Mr. Brookfield isindicative
of the type of assistance he provided to the fact finders, which would have allowed
them to appreciate the facts which may not have been obviousto alay person:

Q. And then if you would look at Exhibit 120 and 119, what happened on
February 28th in relation to Dr. Jha s money?

A. Perhaps 118 is -- Exhibit 118 isthe best way to summarize what
happened. The $44,000 camein. Therewasjust asmall balancein the trust
account before Dr. Jha's money arrived, $37.96.

And then immediately after it had arrived, a cheque, number 1849 which
is Exhibit number 120, was written by Mr. Wood to reimburse the Phillips for
their funds. So right off the bat $20,671 of Dr. Jha s funds were used for a
purpose other than for his own.

Q. And then looking at Exhibit 120, is that the cheque that represents that
cheque -- or isthat the cheque on the bank statement of the trust account, Exhibit
119?

A. Itis.
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Q. So therefore, what in summary happened to Dr. Jha' s money, Mr.
Brookfield?

A. In summary, what happened is that it was used almost in its entire --
20,671 of it was used to finance a cheque required for the Phillips that |eft a
balance in the trust account of 23,366.80. So at the moment that that balance was
in there of 23,000 in the trust account, some of Dr. Jha s funds had been
inappropriately removed.

[74] We agree with the respondent’ s submission that while the jurors may have
been familiar with cheques, bank statements and deposit books, they were probably
unfamiliar with lawyers’ trust accounts and client ledgers. The expert’s evidence
was necessary to draw their attention to the details and provide the inferences not
readily apparent to an ordinary observer. Mr. Brookfield' s evidence was almost
entirely of the nature quoted above. His assistance to the jury was as a guide
through the morass of paper pointing out the trail of funds. Thetrail, parts of which
had been concealed and lost, was so tangled and intricate that without the guidance
of an experienced accountant, tracing the monies belonging to the nine clients
would have been almost impossible. We agree with thetrial judge’ s ruling that the
evidence of Mr. Brookfield met the necessity threshold.

[75] With respect to the independence of the expert witness, Justice Mgor, in
D.D. did recognize the danger that can arise if an expert moves “from the
impartiality generally associated with professionals’ to being an advocate for one
of the parties. In this case, the appellant says that the witness was adversarial and
hostile and became an advocate for the Barristers' Society. After carefully
reviewing the evidence of Mr. Brookfield, we are not satisfied that the appellant’s
characterization of it is accurate. Associate Chief Justice Kennedy carefully,
thoroughly and correctly instructed the jury as to their role in assessing the expert
witnesses' testimony in the following passages.

A witness may give some testimony which is true and then by reason of
poor powers of observation or faulty recollection or poor memory, defective
memory or, in some cases | suppose, a desire to hide the truth, they may give
other testimony that isfalse or not accurate. So that it is possible that you might
believe some of what awitness says but not all of what awitness says. That
sometimes happens.
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When reviewing the evidence of the various witnesses, you should
consider what real opportunity did the witness have to observe the events to know
about the events that he or she testified about. Has the witness any interest in the
outcome of the trial or any motive for either favouring or injuring the accused? |Is
the witnesses' testimony reasonable and consistent within itself? By consistent
within itself, | mean does it stack up, does it make sense?

So really what | am saying to you, | guess, is that you may wish to accept
some parts of awitnesses' testimony and reject others. Because witnesses do
make mistakes sometimes and sometimes they have no desire to tell the truth.

By comparing one witness with another and by your powers of
observation of their conduct, their demeanour and their apparent consistency or
inconsistency in their testimony, you will be able to decide how much of the
testimony of these witnesses you will believe and how much weight you will give
to any particular part of that evidence.

In other words, | am asking you to apply your everyday good common
sense, your everyday experiencesin judging people. We do it every day. We
judge people every day. | am paid to do it, other people do it as a hobby, | guess.
We judge people every day. We are pretty good at doing that. We are normal,
reasonable people. We are pretty good at assessing people.

Common sense is what juries bring to the justice system. That iswhy we
involve juries in the justice system because they bring good, reasonable common
sense.  If you have areasonable doubt as to the accuracy of the evidence given
by awitness or to the weight that you should give to such evidence, you must
give, of course, the benefit of that doubt to the accused, John Wood, and not to
the Crown. The benefit of doubt to the accused.

L et me say something about experts, because we had some expert
testimony. | mentioned during the course of the trial, and perhaps Justice Gruchy
did also, that ordinarily witnesses are permitted to give evidence only of the facts
which they themselves have seen, heard or otherwise perceived by their senses.
They are not allowed to express opinions when testifying.

Thereis an exception to that rule. The exception being duly qualified
experts. People who | have qualified as experts so that they can express opinions
within their field of expertise before you. They are permitted to give opinions on
matters in dispute at trial.
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We had two experts, to my recollection, in relation to this matter. Two
people who were qualified as expert witnesses. One being the chartered
accountant, Scott Brookfield, with his experience particularly in the area of
forensic accounting, and the other being Gil Poulin, you remember was the
document expert from the RCMP lab. Both were qualified as experts within their
fields, within their areas, and both were permitted to give opinion evidence.

When you consider the opinion evidence of experts, the evidence of
experts generaly, you do so in the same manner that you deal with evidence of
other witnesses. It isfor you to determine the weight you should give to their
testimony. Y ou may accept al of their evidence, you may accept part of it, and
you may reject it entirely. It ispossible to reject entirely the testimony of experts.

Over the years | have heard many experts testify in my Court, some of
whom | consider gave very valuable and important opinions, some of whom | did
not pay any attention to. That is notwithstanding the fact that they had been
qualified as experts. | thought their opinions were baloney, frankly. Y ou have
the same power when you are triers of fact. Y ou can make your own decisionin
relation to the opinions of experts. Y ou are not bound to accept what they say. It
isyour position that counts.

One of the things, perhaps, that you will consider in relation to expertsis
the qualifications of those people, consider their training and experience, ask
yourself whether those qualifications add to or perhaps even detract from their
opinions. You think about those opinions and you decide whether you believe
them, whether you find them valuable to you in the course of determining this
matter.

In winding up my statement in relation to the evidence, let me say some
things generally about the evidence. Clearly, the chartered accountant, Scott
Brookfield, is central to the Crown's case against John Wood. Heisthe one that
the Crown has used to pull all of the information together. Y ou had lots of
opportunity to assess the credibility of the accountant, Brookfield, and to assess
his competence as an accountant.

Y ou will remember that he not only testified to cheques and ledgers and
numbers but also to John Wood's behaviour in dealing with him during the spot
audit and as the investigation progressed. Y ou will remember that he
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characterized John Wood's actions in this matter as taking from Peter to pay Paul.
He used that oft-used phrase and compared the situation that John Wood had
developed, to use the anaogy, as agame of musical chairs.

He said that when the music stopped, meaning that when John Wood no
longer had access to funds, then somebody was going to be out money. He said
in this case when the music stopped, the Blanche Jewers estate and the Carolyn
Ross beneficiary, John Michael Ross, were the people who were out the money.
These were the people you heard, both of whom were reimbursed by the Nova
Scotia Barristers Society.

Jury, two things that | want to speak to you about that are specific and
uniqueto thistria. Firstly, you have heard in evidence that, as aresult of the
Barristers Society investigation into the actions of John Wood, that he was
disbarred, that his privilege of practicing law in this province was taken from him.
Y ou heard that in evidence more than once. Thisinformation isto have
absolutely no affect or influence on your decision on these 18 criminal charges.

Y ou are to ignore that information completely in determining this matter.

Y ou do not know what information was before the Bar Society when they
made their decision. Y ou do not know what criteria or proof was used by the Bar
Society, but you can rest assure that they did not use proof beyond a reasonable
doubt, which is the highest standard of proof that is used in criminal matters and
the standard of proof that you must apply to the evidence that is before you. You
do not know what went on at the Bar Society.

It would be unfair, it would be unjust to this accused, to John Wood, if
you were to allow your knowledge of his disbarment to in any way influence your
decision at thistrial. So | am imploring you, | am directing you, ignore that
information, please. Blank it from your mind in the process of determining this
matter.

[76] Thejury was properly instructed. This ground of appeal is dismissed.

(v) disclosure
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[77] Asto the 21% ground of appeal, the appellant alleges that Kennedy, A.C.J.,
erred in law by permitting the Crown to call and present six new witnesses without
proper notice to him.

[78] The background to thisissueisthat on May 15", Gruchy, J., heard the
evidence of Gurdeep Brar, an employee of Canada Trust, in avoir dire with
respect to several banking documents that the Crown proposed to tender pursuant
to s. 29 of the Canada Evidence Act. Gruchy, J. ruled that since Ms. Brar was not
able to say with respect to some of the documents that they were true copies, they
were inadmissible, “on the present evidence”.

[79] Later, whenthetrial resumed before Kennedy, A.C.J., the Crown provided
the appellant with an updated witness list which included the names of six
witnesses for which he argues he did not have either notice or disclosure. The
appellant brought the issue before Kennedy, A.C.J and submitted that:

And now, Friday morning before the Monday morning I'm told that there
are six additional banking witnesses. | don't know that | have any will-say
statements. | think | have some will-say statements from a couple of these people
because originally these people were on a list because of continuity of evidence.
Now again, not being represented and | was advised about this continuity
business. And | wastold, well, it would be more expedient and things would
move faster if we could dispense with a number of these witnesses who are just
going to come in here and say, "We had custody of these documents at a certain
time and they just ended up filtering down through the investigating officer." So
these people were originally put forward -- they were just going to be continuity
witnesses.

... It impacts on the jury, these delays to deal with these matters. And I'm sure
that the prosecutor is going to indicate that, well, it was necessary after Justice
Gruchy's rulings on the evidence of the Canada Trust witness that these additional
witnesses be brought forward.
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... But nonetheless I'm here now today faced with alist of six additional banking
witnesses and my position isthat it's manifestly unfair for those witnesses now to
be allowed to be called by the Crown. | have not had full and complete and
timely disclosure by the Crown . . .

[80] Kennedy, A.C.J. ruled asfollows:

... asto the argument that there has not been full disclosure and therefore Mr.
Wood is compromised by the production of bank witnesses today that were only
-- by full disclosure | mean timely disclosure, that were only first mentioned to
him as recently aslast Friday, let me be specific for the nature of the evidence
that we're dealing with, that is bank records. Mr. Wood, even unrepresented
would reasonably have anticipated that having had those records disclosed to him
that the Crown would be producing witnesses from the bank -- from the various
institutions to attempt to prove those records. | do not consider, given the specific
nature of the evidence that we're speaking of, that the names of those witnesses
are so significant, given the obvious testimony or type of testimony that they
would be involved with -- type of evidence that they would be giving as to put
Mr. Wood at a disadvantage, notwithstanding the relative proximity of the
disclosure of those names and what institutions they were involved with.

One again would have anticipated -- reasonably anticipated, even
unrepresented, that the Crown would be producing witnesses that would attempt
to prove the records in question.

Asthe use of copies, counsel, Mr. Wood, the best evidence rule is a dodo.
It's gone in the way of the dodo bird. It'sreliability that countsin relation -- and
relevance that counts in relation to evidence coming before the Courts in this age.
Specifically when we're dealing with bank records. True copies, if demonstrated
to be true copies, are just as admissible as the actual documents themselves. As
long asthey satisfy those criteria, firstly reliability and secondly relevance, and
whether I'm dealing with atrue copy or we have atrue copy or the original
document is not particularly significant. So that copies are going to be as
admissible aslong as -- as admissible as original documents as long as the
criteria, of course, is established and we've already had that situation addressed by
Justice Gruchy in relation to documents produced prior hereto.

[81] The appellant now submits that Kennedy, A.C.J. erred in allowing the
Crownto call “surprise” witnesses and that hisright to afair trial was thereby
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prejudiced. In response to this ground of appeal, the Crown sought to introduce as
fresh evidence on the appeal, an affidavit of Bernadette Macdonald, Crown counsel
at trial. After hearing submissions on the admissibility of the affidavit, we received
the proposed evidence and reserved decision as to its admissibility pending the
hearing of the appeal. Thisisthe procedural approach set out in R. v. Stolar,
[1988] 1 S.C.R. 480 and R. v. Palmer, [1980] 1 S.C.R. 759.

[82] InR.v.Dixon (1997), 156 N.S.R. (2d) 81, (upheld on appeal to the Supreme
Court of Canada, [1998] 1 S.C.R. 244), Chipman, J.A., for the mgority, noted at 8
22 that test for admission of new evidence in a situation such as existsin this case,
Is different from the usual Palmer test:

The court received the affidavits because they are relevant to the issue of
nondisclosure. The stringent Palmer criteria, applicable to an application to
place before an appellate court additional material relevant to factual or legal
determinations made at trial, are not relevant here. | refer to the passage from the
decision of Doherty, J.A., on behalf of the Ontario Court of Appeal inR. v. W.W.
and 1.W. (1995), 84 O.A.C. 241; 100 C.C.C. (3d) 225 (C.A.), at 232 which was
guoted by Pugsley, JA., in Cole, supra. The subject isfurther discussed by
Osborne, J. A., on behalf of the Ontario Court of Appeal in R. v. Peterson (B.)
(1996), 89 O.A.C. 60; 106 C.C.C. (3d) 64 (C.A.), a 79 where he said:

The fresh evidence that counsel agreed we should review is
relevant to the issue of nondisclosure. The appellant seeks to
establish through the fresh evidence and the trial record that the
Crown breached its disclosure obligations and that the failure to
make the required disclosure impaired the appellant's right to make
full answer and defence.

In my view, the somewhat exacting standards for the admission of
fresh evidence, as set out in Palmer and Palmer v. The Queen
(1979), 50 C.C.C. (2d) 193; 106 D.L.R. (3d) 212; [1980] 1 S.C.R.
759, and R. v. Stolar (1988), 40 C.C.C. (3d) 1; [1988] 1 S.C.R.
480; 62 C.R. (3d) 313, do not determine whether the tendered fresh
evidence should be admitted. It seemsto me that, consistent with
S. 683, it isin "the interests of justice” that the tendered fresh
evidence be admitted.
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The fresh evidence establishes and explains the Crown's failure to
make full disclosure. It isalso relevant to the extent to which the
nondisclosure affected the appellant's right to make full answer
and defence. In this case, without the fresh evidence, it would not
be possible to consider the nondisclosure issue in an appropriate
context: seeR.v. W.(W.), released August 15, 1995 (Ont. C.A.)
[now reported 100 C.C.C. (3d) 225; 43 C.R. (4th) 26; 25 O.R. (3d)
161], and R. v. Joanisse, released October 3, 1995 (Ont. C.A.)
[now reported 102 C.C.C. (3d) 35; 44 C.R. (4th) 364; 85 O.A.C.
186]. | do not accept, in circumstances such as exist here, that to
be admitted the court must be of the opinion that, if believed and
taken with the other evidence, the fresh evidence might have
altered theresult at trial. Thus, the admission of the fresh evidence
does not in these circumstances inevitably lead to an order that
therebeanew trial: seeR.v. Stolar.

[83] We are satisfied that the affidavit of Ms. Macdonald meets the criteria for
admission established by these cases; that is, that it is pertinent to the validity of
the trial process and should therefore be admitted on the appeal. In the affidavit,
Ms. Macdonald indicated that on October 2, 1997, she provided “can say”
statements of four of the witnhesses concerned, which summarized the evidence
expected to be adduced through those witnesses. The names, work addresses and
telephone numbers of the other bank witnesses were given to the appellant on May
19, 1998. These people testified on May 25" asto procedures at their respective
Institutions and at the data centre where cheques were processed.

[84] The appellant does not specify how the reception of the evidence of these
people impaired hisright to afair trial. However, as stated by Cory, J. for the court,
in R. v. Dixon, supra, at 8§ 32 et seq., he has the burden of showing not only that
his right to full and timely disclosure was breached, but also that the lack of proper
disclosure has some identifiable impact:

At this point, something should also be said about the standard to be met
by an accused who asserts that the right to make full answer and defence was
impaired. It istrite but worth repeating that in all cases where a person claims that
a Charter right has been violated, he or she must prove on a balance of
probabilities that the violation occurred. Thus, before granting any sort of remedy
under s. 24(1), it must be found that it was more likely than not that the Charter
right in question was infringed or denied. See R. v. Callins, [1987] 1 S.C.R. 265,
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The evidence required to meet this burden and the factors to be considered
will differ according to the particular right at issue and the particular remedy
sought. For example, where a court is persuaded that undisclosed information
meets the Sinchcombe threshold, an accused has met his burden to establish a
violation of his Charter right to disclosure. As noted above, the appropriate
remedy for such aviolation s, at trial, an order for production or an adjournment.
Where non-disclosure is raised on an appeal from a conviction, an accused must,
as athreshold matter, establish a violation of the right to disclosure. Further, the
accused bears the additional burden of demonstrating on a balance of probabilities
that the right to make full answer and defence was impaired as aresult of the
faillureto disclose.

This burden is discharged where an accused demonstrates that thereisa
reasonable possibility the non-disclosure affected the outcome at trial or the
overall fairness of thetrial process. SeeR. v. C. (M.H.), [1991] 1 S.C.R. 763, &t p.
776; Sinchcombe, supra, at p. 348. Imposing atest based on a reasonable
possibility strikes afair balance between an accused's interest in afair trial and
the public'sinterest in the efficient administration of justice. It recognizes the
difficulty of reconstructing accurately thetrial process, and avoids the undesirable
effect of undermining the Crown's disclosure obligations. Thiswould be the result
if the Crown were placed in a better position by withholding rather than
disclosing information of relatively low probative value. However, the reasonable
possibility to be shown under this test must not be entirely speculative. It must be
based on reasonably possible uses of the non-disclosed evidence or reasonably
possible avenues of investigation that were closed to the accused as a result of the
non-disclosure. If this possibility is shown to exist, then the right to make full
answer and defence was impaired.

[85] With respect to the witnesses for which the appellant received the “ can say”
statements, there was timely disclosure. With respect to the others, even assuming
without deciding that the disclosure was not timely, given the nature of the
impugned evidence, there is no reasonable possibility that any untimeliness
affected the outcome of the trial or the fairness of the trial process. The appellant
has not met the burden of establishing that the trial judge erred in permitting the
witnesses to testify.

2. Documentary Evidence | ssues
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[86] In thissection, we will address the issues relating to documentary evidence
set out in grounds 6, 10, 13to 16 and 28. It will be convenient to consider these
grounds of appeal under three main headings. Ground 13 relates to the provision
to the jury of highlighted copies of exhibits. We will consider thisissue under the
heading “the documents before the jury”. Grounds 6, 10 and 28 deal mainly with
banking documents. We will address these issues under the heading “banking
documents’. Grounds 14 to 16 deal mainly with documents which formed part of
the Barristers' Society investigation and which were ultimately seized by the police
pursuant to search warrant. We will consider these grounds under the heading
“investigation documents”.

(@ thedocumentsbeforethejury

[87] Therelevant ground of appeal is asfollows:

13.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy
erred in law in allowing the Crown to give thejury large
three ring binders with copies of Crown exhibits
highlighted with yellow marker to refer to while the Crown
expert witness Scott Brookfield gave histestimony. During
the testimony of the Crown’s expert witness Scott
Brookfield the jury were referred to the copies of yellow
highlighted exhibits in the three ringed binders instead of
being shown original unhighlighted exhibits;

[88] Eachjuror, with leave of the judge, was provided with a binder containing
copies of the exhibits. The portions of the documents alleged by the Crown to be
relevant were highlighted. For example, where an exhibit, such as a bank
statement, referred to numerous transactions, the ones alleged by the Crown to be
relevant to the case were highlighted. The appellant objected to this on the
grounds that the jurors should have access only to the original exhibits and that the
highlighting was prejudicial.

[89] Thejudge permitted the binders to be given to the jurors. He gave a mid-trial
instruction with respect to thisissue as follows:

... dury, let me talk to you about those binders for amoment. Y ou may remember
that when | took over the case | said that what you would have with you when you
went back to the jury room was the original documentation and that
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documentation only. I've changed my mind. And as aresult of the Crown having
produced these binders that contain only admissible documents, only admissible
documents -- we could not have produced the binders -- the Crown could not have
produced the binders, more accurately, much sooner in the process, at any rate,
because we had to determine the admissibility of that documentation before you
could get it. So now it seemsto me that it makes some sense that -- some real
sense that you have copies of the documentation that you can make reference to.

Thereisaconcern that | have, though, that you will forget that it is the original
documentation that is everything. Those binders are not evidence. Itisthe
original documentation that is the evidence. So that when you go and you
deliberate this matter, when you go to the jury room, remember that the
documentation that has been produced, shown to the withesses and identified by
the witnesses and found to be admissible in this matter, that original
documentation is of the essence. These are only binders, copies of that
documentation designed to assist you when you are in the process of trying to put
this matter together.

Also, it ismost important for me to point out that in those binders the Crown has
highlighted, I think with yellow marker, some of the aspects of the various
documents. That highlighting was done by the Crown in order to, | guess, draw
your attention to what the Crown considers significant and what the Crown will
talk about when they finally address you at the end of the calling of the evidence
in this matter.

But that highlighting does not exist on the originals. That highlighting is not part
of the evidence. It may very well be of little significance to you when you
ultimately determine the matter. And it isyour own view of the documentation
that will befinal. Not the Crown's view, not my view, not Mr. Wood's view, your
view, your opinion, your determination as to what's important on that
documentation.

So the highlighting is just something that the Crown did in order to assist you in
understanding their argument. | guess that's a good way to put it to you. To assist
you in understanding the Crown's argument that will be made at the end of the
process.

Again, | stressthose are copies, not the originals. The originals are what's
important. But to the extent that they can assist you in understanding the
evidence that's being produced, then so be it, that's good. We're trying to make the
matter as simple as the matter is capable of being. Thank you. Madam Crown?

[90] Inthiscourt, the appellant essentially adopted the arguments he made to the
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trial judge. These arguments have no merit and the trial judge was right to reject
them. It was obviously sensible to give the jurors copies of the multitude of
documents admitted into evidence and to highlight the relevant entries. Any risk of
prejudice, small as it might have been, was properly addressed by the judge’ s mid-
trial instruction.

(b) banking documents

[91] Theseissuesrelate to Grounds of Appeal 6, 10 and 28 which are as follows:

6. THAT the learned Justice David W. Gruchy erred in law in admitting
certain copies of banking documents into evidence at the Appellant’ strial;

10.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
admitting copies of cheques and banking documents pursuant to Section
24 of the Canada Evidence Act;

28.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law
by admitting into evidence photocopies of cheques and other documents

instead of original documents which were available but not produced at
trial;

[92] Thefirst of these grounds relates to the admission of copies of banking
documents by Gruchy, J. He admitted some banking documents and refused to
admit others based on his analysis of the requirements of s. 29(1) and (2) of the
Canada Evidence Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-5. Those sections provide:

29. (D) Subject to this section, a copy of any entry in any book or record
kept in any financial institution shall in all legal proceedings be admitted in
evidence as proof, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, of the entry and of
the matters, transactions and accounts therein recorded.

(2) A copy of an entry in the book or record described in subsection
(2) shall not be admitted in evidence under this section unlessit isfirst proved
that the book or record was, at the time of the making of the entry, one of the
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ordinary books or records of the financial institution, that the entry was madein
the usual and ordinary course of business, that the book or record is in the custody
or control of the financial institution and that the copy is atrue copy of it, and
such proof may be given by any person employed by the financial institution who
has knowledge of the book or record or the manager or accountant of the financial
institution, and may be given oraly or by affidavit sworn before any
commissioner or other person authorized to take affidavits.

[93] The section expressly provides for the admissibility of copies of entries.
Thereis, therefore, no merit in Mr. Wood' s argument that copies should not have
been admitted.

[94] The second of these grounds (Ground 10) relates to the admission by
Kennedy, A.C.J., of copies of cheques and banking documents pursuant to s. 24 of
the Canada Evidence Act. That section was not relied on by the Crown in
seeking admission of the relevant documents or by the judge in admitting them.
Thereis, therefore, no merit in this ground of appeal.

[95] Thethird of these grounds (Ground 28) relates to the admission by Kennedy,
A.C.J., of copies of cheques and documents instead of originals. The appellant
gives no indication of which documents he says were improperly admitted on this
basis. To the extent that copies were admitted pursuant to s. 29 of the Canada
Evidence Act, copies are specifically permitted. The admissibility of copies of
other documents will be addressed in the next section.

(c) investigation documents

[96] The relevant grounds of appeal are 14 - 16 which we set out for
convenience:

14.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
allowing the records which the Appellant John Douglas Wood delivered to
Scott Brookfield by the authorization that Scott Brookfield held pursuant
to the regulations of the Barristers and Solicitors Act to be admitted into
evidence. The Appellant’s Charter Rights under Sections 8 and 24(1) and
24(2) were thereby violated or abridged;

15.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
admitting documents seized pursuant to search warrants as documents
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found in possession and thereby deemed admissible;

16.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
ruling that copies of purported client ledger cards seized under search
warrant from the offices of Coopers Lybrand would be admitted into
evidence;

[97] These grounds raise two mainissues. The first concerns documents
provided by Mr. Wood to the Barristers' Society investigator, Mr. Brookfield. The
appellant’ s position is that his rights under s. 8 of the Charter were infringed,
although the precise nature of the alleged violation is not clear. The second relates
to whether the principles relating to documents found in the possession of the
accused were properly applied. We will address these grounds of appeal under
those two headings. Although there is reference to seizure by search warrant, the
warrants were lawful and there could be no argument that the ensuing searches
were conducted in anything but a reasonable manner.

(i) compelled production

[98] The essence of the appellant’ s submission is that he was compelled by the
Barristersand Solicitors Act, R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 30 and Regulations to deliver
records concerning his practice to Mr. Brookfield and that subsequent use of these
documents at the criminal trial offended the appellant’s Charter rights.

[99] Scott Brookfield was a chartered accountant and a partner in the firm
Deloitte Touche. Asnoted earlier, he was qualified as an expert witness and
permitted to give opinion evidence. He was directed by a discipline committee of
the Barristers' Society to do a“spot audit” of Mr. Wood' s practice pursuant to s.
48(1) and (2) of the Nova Scotia Barristers' Society Regulations. It will be helpful
to set out the relevant portions of s. 48 of the Regulations asit read at the time of
Mr. Brookfield’ sinvestigation:

48 (1) The Discipline Committee may at any time direct an investigation to
be made by a chartered accountant or other person designated by the Committee
(called, in this Regulation, the “investigator”) of the books, records and accounts
of abarrister or barristers, for the purpose of ascertaining and reporting whether
the Regulations respecting accounts have been and are being complied with by
the barrister or barristers.
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(2) The barrister or barristers shall produce for the investigator al the
books, records, vouchers, papers and evidence which the investigator requires for
the purpose of the investigation.

(3) Theinvestigation, where practicable, shall be made in the office of the
barrister or barristers whose accounts are the subject of investigation.

[100] Mr. Brookfield testified that he was directed to conduct the audit at the
conclusion of aBarristers’ Society hearing on March 3, 1995 and immediately
began his work by meeting with Mr. Wood and attempting to obtain from him
financial records including bank statements and books of account. He noted in his
evidence that alawyer isrequired to keep al the bank statements and returned
cheques, to write the books up on a monthly basis in journals which would show
all the cash going in and out and to maintain a record which shows the balance for
each client. Hisevidenceis consistent with sections 47A and 47B of the
Regulations.

[101] Some documents were obtained by Mr. Brookfield directly from Mr. Wood.
These documents were subsequently seized from Mr. Brookfield' s office by the
police acting under search warrant and adduced in evidence by the Crown at the
trial. Mr. Wood, as noted in 8§ 27 above, at the trial, objected to the admissibility of
these documents on the basis, essentialy, that what had occurred was a “back
door” for the police to obtain material that they might otherwise have had more
difficulty obtaining by way of a search warrant.

[102] Thetria judge rejected this argument:

Mr. Wood had raised the interesting argument that that documentation that had
been seized from the forensic accountant retained by the Bar Association should
not be admissible against him because had he not been subject to a statutory
imperative, that is, the Barristers and Solicitors Act, he would not have had to
turn the documentation over to the accountant; it would not have been in the
hands of the accountant and available to be seized by the process that the Crown
tells this Court was accomplished.

My response to that ultimately is that we go back to basics, and that is that
whether that documentation was in the hands of Mr. Wood or in the hands of the
forensic accountant, it was seizable by search warrant. Seizable by a search
warrant. A search warrant was served on the accountant because that happened to
be where the stuff was. But that search warrant and the information to obtain
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those search warrants -- warrants, | guess, plura -- would have been just as
effective had they been served upon, executed against Mr. Wood in relation to the
documentation in his possession. So that while the statutory imperative explains
why the documentation was in the hands of the forensic accountant at the time of
the warrant process, it does not in any way compromise Mr. Wood's Charter
rights or otherwise in relation to its admissibility before this Court, and | so
determine.

... The same stringent Criminal Code search-warrant process was used to obtain
the documentation from the accountant that would have been used to obtain the
documentation had it remained in your possession. And the fact that the search
warrant was served on the accountant rather than upon yourself only reflects the
fact that at the time that the police, the investigatory process had reached that
stage, the documentation was in the hands of the accountant as a result of the
Barristers and Solicitors Act rather than yourself.

So that it does not appear to me that in this instance aless stringent, less onerous,
process was used in order to seize the documentation for purposes of this criminal
proceeding; rather, the same process was used but executed against another
individual simply reflecting the fact that by the time that process was ready to be
accomplished, the documentation had been taken into the possession of the
forensic accountant as a result of the statutory authority that the Barristers
Society has pursuant to the Barristers and Solicitors Act. So the caseisnot, |
find, directly applicable, or applicable at al, to the present situation.

[103] The argument advanced relates only to the various records. The appellant’s
submission on thisissue, which was not significantly elaborated upon in oral
argument, is as set out on p. 25 of hisfactum:

The learned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in allowing
records which the Appellant delivered to Scott Brookfield by virtue of the
authorization that Scott Brookfield held pursuant to the regulations of the
Barristers and Solicitors Act to be admitted into evidence. Mr. Brookfield was a
person in authority in relation to the Appellant and by virtue of Nova Scotia
provincia law, the Appellant was required to deliver these records to Mr.
Brookfield. The Appellant was not warned or advised that these records would be
used against himin acriminal prosecution. The Appellant’s Charter Rights under
Sections 8 and 24(1) and 24(2) were accordingly abridged or violated. The effect
of these violations was to deny the Appellant afair trial.

[104] Thereisno challenge before the Court to the Regulations requiring
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production of alawyer’srecordsto an investigator. In this respect, the present case
is different than decisions such as British Columbia Securities Commission v.
Branch, [1995] 2 S.C.R. 3, Comité paritairedel’industrie de la chemisev.
Selection Milton, [1994] 2 S.C.R. 406 and Delzotto v. Canada, [1999] 1 SC.R. 3
in which statutory provisions granting power to compel testimony or produce
documents were themsel ves challenged under sections 7 and/or 8 of the Charter.

[105] In this case, the documents produced under compulsion to the Barristers
Society investigator were not, in turn, simply turned over to the police. Asthetrial
judge noted in his reasons, the police seized the documents pursuant to a search
warrant from the Bar Society investigator, Mr. Brookfield. The caseisin that
respect (as well as several others) very different than R. v. Colarusso, [1994] 1
S.C.R 20 on which Mr. Wood relied at trial. In that case, after the accused had
been charged with impaired driving, blood and urine samples were obtained with
the accused’ s consent for medical purposes. A coroner, acting under provincial
legidlation, obtained the samples and then immediately turned them over to the
police. Although the court did not exclude the evidence of the analysis of the
samples, the majority found that the samples had been obtained by an unreasonable
seizure. Thisholding turned in large part on the conclusion that the police had,
through the coroner, effectively seized the sasmples and that they had done so
without awarrant. LaForest, J., writing for the majority on this point said as
follows at pp. 61 - 62:

Given the conclusion that the police seized the blood and urine samples from the
appellant, does the police seizure violate s. 8 of the Charter? In my opinion, it is
readily apparent that the actions of the police violated the right of the appellant to
be secure against unreasonable seizures. ... | can see no basis for holding that, at
least in relation to the use of evidence for criminal law purposes, the reasonable
expectation of privacy in one's own bodily fluids guaranteed by s. 8 of the
Charter is diminished merely because a coroner chooses to exercise hisor her
power to seize evidence under s. 16(2) of the Coroners Act. As such, the
intervention by the coroner does not alter the fact that the police must comply
with the Hunter requirement of prior judicial authorization before seizing a bodily
fluid sample which was initially taken from an impaired driving suspect for
medical purposes.

In this case, the police obtained no such warrant prior to seizing the blood and
urine samples. ...

In the result, | would conclude that the actions of the police officers amount to a
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warrantless seizure of bodily fluids for usein acriminal prosecution and so
violate the guarantee against unreasonable search and seizurein s. 8 of the
Charter.

[106] Putting aside the significant fact that the present case concerns financial
records rather than bodily fluids asin Colar usso, the police in Mr. Wood' s case
obtained a warrant to seize the documents and there is no evidence of any sort of
improper collusion between Mr. Brookfield and the police. Accordingly, the
reasoning of LaForest, J., in Colarusso has no application. Evenifitdidandas. 8
violation were to be found, the records would not be excluded under s. 24(2) in any
case. In Colarusso, bodily fluids obtained for medical purposes after the accused
had been charged were found to have been obtained illegally yet the evidence was
admitted. The present case concerns financial records which alawyer is required
by law to maintain and produce on demand and which were brought into existence
for the purposes of carrying on practice before the investigation began or charges
were laid. The exclusion, not the admission, of such evidence would bring the
administration of justice into disrepute.

[107] Although the focus of Mr. Wood' s argument in relation to this issue has
been s. 8 of the Charter, Mr. Delaney, for the Crown, very fairly noted in his
factum that s. 7 could also be considered relevant to this part of the appeal. We
have considered the relevant authorities but find that none of them assists the
appellant in this case. For example, R. v. Fitzpatrick, [1995] 4 S.C.R. 154
concerned compelled self-reporting documents in a regulatory prosecution: see
LaForest, J. at § 24. There, the reports made to the government regulator were used
against the accused in a prosecution. There was no intervention of alawful search
pursuant to warrant as there was in this case, but the Court found that the use of
these documentsin evidence did not limit the accused’ s rights under s. 7 of the
Charter.

[108] When the relevant considerations identified in Fitzpatrick by LaForest, J. at
8 53 - 66 are examined and applied to the facts of the present case, any argument
which could be advanced by the appellant under s. 7 of the Charter in this appeal
Is considerably weaker than the one rejected by the Supreme Court of Canadain
Fitzpatrick. Therecordsin issue here are financial in nature and have nothing of
the character of a confession. There was nothing about the requirement to maintain
or produce these records which increased the possibility that they would be false.
Quite thereverse. They are business records required to be maintained as a
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condition of engaging in the practice of law and in which there could be little, if
any, reasonable expectation of privacy. The transactions evidenced by the records
took place before there was any adversarial relationship between the appellant and
either the Barristers' Society or the Crown. Thereis nothing that happened here
that has the potential to increase the likelihood of abuse of state power.

[109] Nothing in the decision of the Supreme Court in R. v. White, [1999] 2
S.C.R. 417, and, in particular, its discussion of the relevant contextual factors
identified in Fitzpatrick, causes us to think that there was any infringement of s. 7
of the Charter in this case.

[110] We therefore dismiss ground 14 of the appeal.
(if) documentsfound in possession

[111] For convenience, we set out the relevant grounds of appeal, followed by the
appellant’ s submissions in his factum in relation to them:

15.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
admitting documents seized pursuant to search warrants as documents
found in possession and thereby deemed admissible;

16.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
ruling that copies of purported client ledger cards seized under search
warrant from the offices of Coopers Lybrand would be admitted into
evidence,

... the learned Associate Chief Justice Kennedy erred in law in admitting
documents seized pursuant to search warrants as documents found in possession
and thereby deemed admissible.

There was also no evidentiary basis for Associate Chief Justice Kennedy ruling
that copies of purported client ledger cards seized under search warrant from the
offices of Coopers Lybrand would be admitted into evidence. There was no
evidence that any such copies werein fact true copies of original documents.

[112] Mr. Brookfield obtained a number of documents directly from the appellant.
For ease of reference, | will refer to these as the “category 1" documents. The
guestion is whether they were properly admitted for the truth of their contents
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under the doctrine of documents in the possession of the accused.

[113] A frequently cited description of this doctrineisfrom M.N. Howard et al.
(eds.) Phipson on Evidence (15", 2000) at § 30-10:

Documents which are, or have been, in the possession of a party will, as we have
seen, generally be admissible against him as original (circumstantial) evidence to
show his knowledge of their contents, his connection with, or complicity in, the
transactions to which they relate, or his state of mind with reference thereto.
They will further be receivable against him as admissions (i.e. exceptions to the
hearsay rule) to prove the truth of their contentsif he has in any way recognised,
adopted or acted upon them. So, as we have seen, documents which a party has
caused to be made or knowingly used astruein ajudicial proceeding to prove a
particular fact, are admissible against him in subsequent proceedings to prove the
same fact, even on behalf of strangers. Documents furnished by persons
specifically referred to for information are evidence against the referrer; though a
mere genera reference will not have this effect. (citations omitted)

(emphasisin original)

[114] There are three elements of the doctrine. First, it must be shown that the
document was actually or constructively in the possession of the accused. Second,
If such possession is established, the document will be admissible to show the
accused’ s knowledge of its contents, his connection with and state of mind with
respect to the transaction to which it relates. Third, if it is established that the
accused has recognized, adopted or acted on the document, it becomes admissible
for the truth of its contents under the admissions exception to the hearsay rule. The
first and third of these elements are most relevant for the purposes of this appeal.

[115] With respect to the category 1 documents (that is, documents obtained by
Mr. Brookfield directly from Mr. Wood), actual possession by Mr. Wood was
established by the fact that they were records he was obliged to maintain by law
and which he personally produced and supplied to Mr. Brookfield as such pursuant
to Mr. Brookfield' s request.

[116] The next question is whether these documents were admissible for the truth
of their contents on the basis that the appellant “recognized, adopted or acted on”
the documents. The documents in issue were ones Mr. Wood was obliged by law
to keep and to produce on demand to Mr. Brookfield. By personally handing the
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documentsto Mr. Brookfield pursuant to his demand, the appellant recognized and
adopted them: see R. v. d’Eon (1988), 83 N.S.R. (2d) 142 (S.C.A.D.) . They were
records kept under the direction of the appellant and their meaning and purpose
was explained by the legal requirements to maintain them and by Mr. Brookfield's
testimony. They were, thus, admissible as evidence of their truth: see R. v. Smart
and Young (1931), 55 C.C.C. 310 (Ont. S.C. A.D.).

[117] These category 1 documents were, therefore, admissible for the truth of their
contents and the judge did not err in so ruling.

[118] Other documents, which | will call the “ category 2" documents, were
obtained by Mr. Brookfield from files at offices of the accounting firm Coopers
and Lybrand pursuant to permission in writing given by the appellant. Mr. Wood
had given the documents to Coopers for their use in carrying out the required
annual review of histrust account. Mr. Brookfield testified as follows concerning
this authorization:

A. ... Thisparticular card was obtained from our review of the Coopers &
Lybrand firm, which isafirm of chartered accountants who carried out Mr.
Wood' s annual required review of his trust account ledgers. And they happened
to keep some copies. Mr. Wood had given us permission in writing to ask
Coopersfor any information that they may have because he was missing alot of
records himself. And that’s where that came from.

[119] The first question with respect to these documents is whether they werein
Mr. Wood’ s possession for the purposes of the documents in possession doctrine.
In Caccamo v. The Queen, [1976] 1 S.C.R. 786, one of the issues was whether a
certain document was admissible on the basis that it was discovered in a cupboard
in the accused’ s house and, therefore, in his possession. Both the mgjority and
dissenting judges referred to the definition of “possession” found in what is now s.
4(3) of the Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46. Inrelevant part, that section
states that “... a person has anything in possession when he ... knowingly hasit in
the actual possession or custody of another person.”

[120] Applying that test for possession here, we conclude that these documents
werein Mr. Wood' s possession. The documents were, as aresult of Mr. Wood' s
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actions and to his knowledge, in the actual possession or custody of the accounting
firm.,

[121] Did Mr. Wood recognize, adopt or act upon these documents so as to make
them admissible for the truth of their contents? In our view he did. Mr. Wood
authorized the release of these documents to Mr. Brookfield. Mr. Wood did thisto
satisfy hislegal obligation to maintain and produce financial records relating to his
practice. In thisrespect, the documents are in the same position as those which the
appellant personally gave to Mr. Brookfield. The authorization effectively made
the accounting firm Mr. Wood' s agents for the purposes of responding to Mr.
Brookfield’ s requirements and, in that sense, the firm’s acts in turning the
documents over to Mr. Brookfield on Mr. Wood’ sinstructions are, in fact, Mr.
Wood' s acts.

[122] Itisclear on the record that Mr. Brookfield examined the Coopers files and
was able to testify that the copies of documents he had obtained were, in fact,
copies of documents he had reviewed at Coopers' offices and which had been
given to himin response to Mr. Wood' sinstructions. For example, in relation to
Exhibit 83, Mr. Brookfield testified as follows:

Q. And then Exhibit 83, could you identify that.

A. Yes, Exhibit 83 is asubledger card on John Ross' s behalf. And there were a
number of cardsin hisname, and if you'd like, | would just check to seeif that —
where the location of that card came from. Would you like me to do that now?

Q. Yes, if you need to refer to your notes to confirm that.

A. Yes, | would like to because what | did is| kept a copy of al the information
we received from Coopers separately. So | would like to just double-check that if
that’s okay.

Okay, let me see. Yes, thisis definitely a copy of a subledger card that Coopers
had in their files and that we took copies of, as mentioned earlier with the
permission of Mr. Wood.

[123] The documents obtained from Coopers at Mr. Wood' s direction stand in the
same position as those obtained directly from him and are, therefore, admissible for
the truth of their contents.
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[124] At trial and on appeal, arguments were advanced in relation to whether the
testimony of Susan Wood was adequate to support the admissibility of copies of
certain client ledger cards obtained from Coopers and Lybrand. Aswe have
indicated, there was adequate evidence upon which the judge could find them to be
admissible quite apart from the evidence of Ms. Wood.

[125] That leaves for consideration Exhibits 139 to 142. The Crown concedes that
there is no evidentiary basis to support their admissibility as documents found in
possession of the accused. The documents relate to counts 1 and 2 of the
Indictment alleging theft and fraud against the Estate of Blanche Jewers. They are
copies of Canada Trust statements of the account of the Estate of Blanche Jewers
and some of the information contained in the statements was relied on by Mr.
Brookfield in connection with his review of Mr. Wood's practice.

[126] The Crown submits that these documents were admissible under either the
common law business records exception or under the principled approach to
hearsay evidence. We agree. Even if they were not, there was a mountain of other
admissible evidence capable of sustaining the conclusion that the estate’ s money
had been diverted to Mr. Wood' s own use.

[127] Mr. Jewers, the executor of the estate testified that, along with Mr. Wood, he
opened an account at Canada Trust to pay the estate' s bills and that he provided
Mr. Wood, at his request, with signed, blank cheques. Mr. Jewers said that he was
relying on Mr. Wood to pay whatever bills there were owing by the estate and to
act on the sale of the deceased’ s house. Mr. Jewers was shown a number of
cheques, totalling roughly $52,000 on which he identified his signature. All were
cheques payable either to Mr. Wood or Mr. Wood in trust and in relation to which
the executor testified Mr. Wood had no permission to divert estate funds to himself
and of which Mr. Jewers had no knowledge.

[128] In most of the transactions at Canada Trust on which the Crown relied,
references to withdrawal s in the account statements were supported by the cheques
on that account payable to Mr. Wood (or Mr. Wood in trust) and endorsed by him.
In three transactions, totalling just over $27,000, the account statements appear to
have been the only evidence of withdrawal from the account. In other words, in all
but three instances, the withdrawal s from the Jewers' estate account at Canada
Trust were supported by the cheques themselves. In these instances, there was
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ample other evidence apart from the account statements to support the conclusion
that in excess of $5,000 had been stolen from the estate by Mr. Wood.

[129] Quite apart from the Canada Trust transactions relating the Jewers' estate,
Mr. Wood' s own trust account ledger for his trust account at the Bank of Nova
Scotiawas in evidence. It, in the context of the other admissible evidence,
supported a conclusion that over $46,000 had been stolen by Mr. Wood from his
own trust account for the Jewers' estate.

[130] In other words, even if all the transactions recorded on the Canada Trust
account statements were ignored (and on any reasonabl e assessment of the record,
the inadmissibility of these exhibits could only put at risk proof of three of the
transactions) there was ample evidence to sustain the conviction for theft and
fraud over $ 5,000. Exclusion of the Canada Trust account statements could not
possibly have altered the outcome of thetrial of these counts.

[131] The only possible impact of exclusion of the account statements could have
been with respect to the amount of the restitution order. However, Mr. Wood, in
submissions advanced on his behalf on sentencing did not in any way question the
amount put forward by the Crown.

[132] We conclude that even if the Canada Trust account statements should not
have been admitted, this error could not possibly have affected the result of the
trial on Counts 1 and 2 or the amount of the restitution order.

3. M iscellaneous | ssues

[133] The appellant raised several other issues. We advised the Crown at the
hearing of the appeal that it would not be necessary to respond to them. We will
address them briefly in this section of our reasons.

(@) unreasonableverdict

[134] In his notice of appeal, Mr. Wood says the verdicts were “... perverse, wrong
in law and against the weight of the evidence.” This ground was not pursued in the
appellant’ sfactum. There was ample evidence upon which a properly instructed
jury could reasonably have found the appellant guilty of the offences charged.
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(b) continuoustrial

[135] Mr. Wood complains that the trial was adjourned from Tuesday, June 2 to
Monday, June 8 to permit the judge, who had unexpectedly taken over the conduct
of thetrial dueto theillness of the original trial judge, to honour a commitment to
participate in ajudicial education conference. The effect was that three
(Wednesday to Friday) regular sitting days were missed. Mr. Wood further
complains that his summation took place on June 24, the Crown’s on June 25 and
the judge’ s directions were given on June 26 with the result that Mr. Wood' s
summation to the jury was completed two days before the charge was given. He
claimsthat histrial was not continuous as required by s. 645(1) of the Criminal
Code.

[136] Thetria judge has discretion to adjourn the trial asis recognized by s.
645(1). The decision to do so isdiscretionary and the judge made no error in
principle in exercising it as he did in the context of this multi-week trial. His
decisionsin thisregard caused no injustice. Thereis, therefore, no basisfor
appellate interference.

(c) improper questions

[137] The appellant submits that the judge erred by permitting the Crown to ask
guestions of Crown witnesses based on facts not in evidence and not proved. We
assume that the appellant is referring to the evidence of Percy Jewers, Edward
Gillis, David Conrad, Umesh Jha and John Ross, each of whom was asked whether
they had given Mr. Wood permission to carry out certain transactionsin relation to
trust money. In each case, the judge carefully directed the jury that it would be for
them to determine, on the basis of admissible evidence, whether any of the
underlying transactions had actually taken place and that the Crown referring to
them in questions was not evidence. The appellant has not identified any such
guestionsin relation to which an instruction of this type was not given. There was
no error on the part of the trial judge in permitting these questions to be asked in
the circumstances here and his mid-trial directions would have made it clear to the
jury that they must make findings on the evidence, not on the assumptions on
which the questions were based.
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[138] The appellant advanced the following grounds of appeal in relation to the
jury charge:

23.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Kennedy erred in law in his
chargeto the jury by failing to instruct the jury not to consider or
disregard that the Nova Scotia Barrister’ s Society had reimbursed two of
the alleged victims of the Appellant and further erred by instructing the
jury, without adequate explanation, to ignore the Appellant’s request in
summation to send a message to whatever authorities regarding the
provision of legal counsel for accused personsin jury trials,

25.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
his charge to the jury by telling the jury that: the dates of the alleged
offences extended to March 31, 1995; the offences relating to John Ross
could mean either the father John Ross or the son John Ross; and that
there were two estates as aleged victims;

27.  THAT thelearned Associate Chief Justice Joseph Kennedy erred in law in
his charge to the jury by following the outline of alleged offences as set
out in the flow chart prepared by Grant Shaw, which flow chart was not
admitted in evidence and objected to by the Appellant;

[139] It will be convenient to consider the charge in relation to the appellant’s
disbarment and the reimbursement of former clientsin the next section where the
admission of evidence in relation to these two mattersis addressed. With respect
to the other issues raised by these grounds, we find that they have no merit. The
judge did not err in telling the jury to ignore Mr. Wood' s request that their verdict
should “send a message” regarding the provision of legal counsel for accused
personsin jury trials. That was not the jury’ s function as the judge made clear to
them. Inrelation to the review of the evidence in the charge, the judge, in our
respectful view, succinctly and fairly placed before the jury the essentials of the
evidence. Thiswas amulti-count indictment with many individual transactions
and a multitude of documents. In acase of this nature, the jury inevitably looks to
the judge for assistance in making sense of the large volume of evidence. Their
expectations were not disappointed in this case. Whatever outline the judge may
have followed in organizing his charge, the appellant has not identified any
specific problem with his review of the evidence and we see none.
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[140] The other points raised within these grounds complain of alleged minor
misstatements of the evidence. The judge clearly and properly instructed the jury
that they were not bound by hisreview of the evidence and that they should rely on
their own recollection of the evidence. In relation to the direction concerning
whether the Indictment referred to Mr. Ross, Sr. or Mr. Ross, Jr., we do not accept
the interpretation of this direction advanced by the appellant and find no error with
respect to it.

(e) evidence of disbarment and reimbur sement

[141] We will address here both the admission of this evidence as challenged in
ground 24 as well as the appellant’ s complaints with respect to the judge’s charge
in relation to the reimbursement issue as raised in ground 23.

[142] With respect to evidence of disbarment, thiswas elicited in passing in the
appellant’ s cross-examination of Mr. Brookfield. It was dealt with by afull and
strong instruction by the trial judge that this finding was irrelevant to the matters
before the jury and must be ignored by them in reaching their verdicts. Asfor
evidence of reimbursement of the alleged victims by the Bar Society, exclusion of
this evidence might well have been more prejudicial to the accused than its
admission as it might have left the impression with the jury that the appellant’s
clients had not been reimbursed for the very significant losses about which the jury
had heard extensive evidence. The judge did not err by not addressing the
reimbursement issue in his charge.

(f)  severanceof counts

[143] Thisissueisraised in ground 26 of the notice of appeal. Severanceisa
discretionary decision for thetrial judge. There were strong factual and legal
connections among these counts and severance would have lead to amultiplicity of
proceedings and considerable duplication of evidence. We see no basis upon
which we should or could interfere with the exercise of thetrial judge’ s discretion.

(@ Crown addresstothejury

[144] Thisissueisraised in Ground 30 of the notice of appeal. The appellant has
not identified any objectionable passages and we do not see any aspect of Crown
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counsel’ s address that would justify appellate intervention.
Conclusion on Appeal from Conviction

[145] For these reasons, we dismiss the appeal against conviction.
4, The Sentence Appeal

[146] The appellant was convicted of nine counts of stealing from his clients and
nine counts of defrauding his clients. Applying the Kienapple principle, the trial
judge did not enter convictions on the related fraud counts. He imposed
consecutive sentences totalling five years on the nine theft counts. The breakdown
of the consecutive sentences was as follows: (a) 10 months each for stealing a sum
exceeding $5,000 from each of the estate of Blanche Jewers, James Phillips and
John Ross; and (b) five months each for stealing a sum exceeding $5,000 from
each of Marion Conrad Voigt, Alan Dauphinee, Bruce Pettipas, Janet Ellen Rafters,
Umesh Jhaand David Roback.

[147] Kennedy, C.J. (as of July 1, 1998) also ordered the appellant to pay
restitution to the Nova Scotia Barristers' Society in the amount of $196,094.00 to
compensate it for the sums paid out to the appellant’ s clients by the Bar Society.
He did not express his reasons for making the restitution order.

[148] At the outset of the sentencing hearing on September 1%, 1998, K ennedly,
C.J. stated that he had read the pre-sentence report and the information that had
been provided to him from clients, relatives and others in support of the appellant.

[149] Counsel for the Crown sought aterm of imprisonment of between five and
eight years and arestitution order to reimburse the Barristers Society for the
amounts paid to clients from whom the appellant had stolen trust monies. It should
be noted that while the appellant had taken monies from the trust accounts of all
the persons referred to in the Indictment, with the exception of the Estate of
Blanche Jewers and John Ross, the monies were restored to the respective accounts
from time to time by thefts from other victims' accounts. The only ultimate losers
were the Jewers' estate and John Ross.

[150] Prior to counsel for the appellant making his submissions on sentence, the
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appellant publicly apologized. He stated:

Thank you, My Lord. My Lord, | have made my own private apology and so
there is no misunderstanding or omission today, | want to apologize in public to
my clients, to my former colleague, to my family, and to this Court, and to the
Crown and to my friends who supported me.

| can’t undo what has been done. | do feel guilt and remorse about this. I've
caused a tremendous amount of harm to many people and not just the people who
were listed as victimsin thiscase. That'sonly thetip of theiceberg. All the
lawyersin this province, the judicial system, and friends, and relatives, and it's
not just the consequences to me personally.

| have learned over the last three years — since it started on March 3, 1995, |
have learned that my actions just do not affect me and they have been devastating
to myself personally but even more devastating for people | care about.

[151] In both written and oral submissionsto Chief Justice Kennedy, counsel for
the appellant suggested that a sentence of between two and two and one-half years
would be appropriate. With respect to the issue of the restitution order, counsel for
the appellant stated:

... Mr. Wood has also mentioned to me that he is prepared to enter into,
voluntarily, any stand-alone restitution order this Court may order. ... Mr. Wood
has told methat it is his intention, when he gets back on his feet to pay back any
monies which former clients are out and he would voluntarily enter into the
restitution order.

The Sentencing Judge’' s Remarks
[152] In passing sentence on the appellant, Kennedy, C.J. commented:
(i)  that he recognized the obvious fact that the appellant had suffered
significantly as aresult of his disbarment and that he would not be

able to practice law again;

(i)  that every lawyer knows that there are significant penal consequences
if the lawyer steals from clients' trust accounts;

(iii) that alawyer knowsthat it is“amost inevitable’ that the
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consequences are “federal time”;

(iv) that he was aware of the appellant’s personal situation being
[financially] responsible for not only children of his marriage but also
for histwo year old child born to the female with whom he had had a
common law relationship for several years;

(v) that he considered the appellant’s principal submission that specific
deterrence in particular was not necessary as the appellant will not be
able to again practice law;

(vi) that genera deterrence, in the appellant’s case, was an appropriate
consideration so as to bring home to lawyers the consequences of
stealing from their clients;

(vii) that he considered the sentences imposed on the Nova Scotian lawyers
- Delaney (4%2 years plusrestitution) and Calder - (2 years). With
respect to the two year sentence he imposed on Calder when he was
provincial court judge, Chief Justice Kennedy contrasted the
circumstances that gave rise to that sentence with that of the appellant.
He stated:

Mr. Calder’s situation differed markedly. He had made full restitution. He had
through his counsel, as indicated, contacted the police and cooperated fully in the
process of the investigation in the matter. He came before the Court and
demonstrated what | was satisfied at the time was true and obvious remorse, and
accepted what he knew was going to be aterm in afederal institution. |
remember being impressed by Mr. Calder, at least at the time of sentencing. He
stood up and took what he knew was going to happen to him, because he was a
lawyer and he knew what the consequences are.

(viii) that thiswas not a simple case of “taking from Peter to pay Paul” as
regularly money ended up in the appellant’ s pocket;

(ix) that with respect to the Estates of Blanche Jewers and Carolyn Ross,
the appellant’ s actions constituted “ systematic looting over a period of
years'.

[153] Kennedy, C.J. concluded his sentencing remarks as follows:
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... I"'ve considered the general deterrent aspect of sentencing, | have considered
the individual, the human being who is present before this Court today and what
his obligations are, and the fact that whatever happens to him, other people will
be victimized.

| have considered the victims of the offences that have been committed. | have
considered the totality principle and the totality principleis everything in relation
to thismatter. And | want that stressed because | will be accomplishing atotality
through consecutive sentencing on the nine counts, but I do not want people to
make too much of the individual consecutive sentences. It isthetotality that | am
trying to accomplish, and once totality is reached, the individual sentencing often
becomes no more than mathematics.

[154] Chief Justice Kennedy then imposed consecutive sentences totalling five
years and made the restitution order.

Appellant’s Submissions on the Appeal

[155] The appellant submitsthat: (a) the sentence does not accord with the
sentencing regime created by Parliament with the enactment of the new Part XXII1
of the Criminal Code which came into force on September 3", 1996 ; (b) five
years imprisonment is harsh and excessive; (c) the sentencing judge over
emphasized general deterrence; (d) the sentenceis out of line with recent sentences
imposed in Calder, unreported, Saunder s, unreported and Bunn, [2000] 1 S.C.R.
183; (e) the sentencing judge did not have jurisdiction to make a restitution order
and that there was no factual basis for making the same; and (f) the sentences
imposed should have been concurrent rather than consecutive asthe trial judge had
refused to sever the counts at the outset of the trial.

Disposition of the Appeal

[156] We have been advised that the appellant was conditionally released on
parole after serving approximately one year of his sentence. He had been
sentenced on September 1%, 1998. He was living in a community based residential
facility when he was granted bail by this court on October 26", 1999; the Order
released him from custody pending the determination of this appeal.

[157] Section 687 of the Criminal Code governs appeals taken against sentence:
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687. (1) Where an appeal is taken against sentence, the court of appeal shall,

unless the sentence is one fixed by law, consider the fitness of the sentence

appeaed against, and may on such evidence, if any, asit thinksfit to require or to

receive,

@ vary the sentence within the limits prescribed by law for the offence of
which the accused was convicted; or

(b) dismiss the appeal .

[158] The standard of review to be applied by this court isas stated in R. v.
Shropshire, [1995] 4 S.C.R. 227 and R. v. M. (C.A.), [1996] 1 S.C.R. 500. In
short, our function, in considering the fitness of the sentence appealed against, isto
determine whether there was an error in principle by the sentencing judge, that is, a
failure to consider arelevant factor or an over-emphasis of an appropriate factor or
absent such error in principle, whether the sentence imposed is demonstrably unfit.
An appeal court must bear in mind that sentencing is a matter for the discretion of
the sentencing judge and that an appeal court ought to give appropriate deference
to the conclusions of the sentencing judge. When an appeal court is considering
the length of a sentence, it ought not to interfere if the sentence iswithin an
acceptable range considering sentences imposed for similar offences by like
offenders. It must also be borne in mind that in each case the circumstances of the
offence and the circumstances of each offender invariably have factual differences.
The sentencing judge and a court of appeal, in reviewing sentences, must also be
mindful that Part X X111 of the Criminal Code in force since September 3", 1996,
has expanded the sentencing options available to a sentencing judge and in
particular bear in mind that the creation of the conditional sentence suggests a
desire of Parliament to lessen the use of incarceration (R. v. Gladue, [1999] 1
S.C.R. 688 at § 40).

[159] The appellant submits that five years imprisonment is harsh and excessive as
it exceeds the sentences imposed, in particular on lawyers Calder, Saunders and
Bunn who had each stolen money from their clients. In our opinion, these cases
are readily distinguishable.

[160] Calder, upon his actions being discovered, co-operated with the police, paid
restitution and pleaded guilty. These are mitigating factors. Chief Justice Kennedy
also observed that Calder was genuinely remorseful with respect to what he had
done. Kennedy, C.J. did not express an opinion as to the genuineness of the
appellant’ s remorse. The appellant did not plead guilty nor did he reimburse his
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clients or the Bar Society.

[161] With respect to the conditional sentence imposed on Edmund Saunders just a
few months ago, the most relevant factor in the sentencing judge’ s mind was that
Mr. Saunders was an 82 year old lawyer who was not in good health. In addition,
Saunders had fully reimbursed his clients. The Crown did not seek a sentence of
two years or more. It isquite understandable that under these circumstances the
trial judge gave consideration to a conditional sentence that would imprison
Saundersin his own house.

[162] Bunn had converted trust money from his trust account to his genera
account. The amount involved was approximately $86,000.00 and the money was
taken over athree and one-half year period and involved some 145 separate
transfers of funds. Bunn was sentenced to two years imprisonment prior to the
passage of the new sentencing regime that created conditional sentences. The
Saskatchewan Court of Appeal varied the sentence by imposing a conditional
sentence of two yearslessaday. The Supreme Court of Canada divided on the
appeal. The majority stated that, in reviewing the Court of Appeal sentence, the
Court should accord it some deference. The majority concluded that the effect of
sections 718.2(e) and 718 (e) and (f) of the Criminal Code were sufficient to
warrant the reduction of the sentence. The Supreme Court of Canada was satisfied
that the Saskatchewan Court of Appeal reasonably concluded that the ruin and
humiliation that the accused had brought down upon himself and his family
together with the loss of his professional status could provide sufficient
denunciation and deterrence when coupled with a conditional sentence of two
years less aday with house arrest. The majority also made reference to the fact
that the Saskatchewan Court of Appeal properly took into consideration the
important mitigating circumstances that the accused was the sole provider and
caregiver for both his disabled wife and their daughter.

[163] Thereal issuein Bunn dealt with what ought to be done when the law
changes between the date the sentence is imposed on an offender and the date the
appeal isheard. We do not have that issue in this appeal. At the time the appellant
was sentenced, the conditional sentencing regime wasin effect. What is most
significant is that the Supreme Court of Canada accorded deference to the
provincial appellate court which had taken into consideration the new sentencing
principles embodied in Part XXII1 of the Criminal Code recognizing that these
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provisions were not available at the time the two year sentence was initially
imposed.

[164] The appellant has also referred us to two other sentence decisionsrelating to
Nova Scotia lawyers. InR. v. Power (1986), 72 N.S.R. (2d) 253 (N.S.S.C.A.D.),
the lawyer was found guilty of eleven counts of fraud and theft arising out of the
activities of an investment firm which the lawyer directed. The sentence of four
yearsin afedera institution was undisturbed on appeal.

[165] In R. v Delaney, unreported, the lawyer pleaded guilty before the
preliminary inquiry. The sentence judge took into consideration the fact that the
lawyer had just started practising and sentenced him to four years.

[166] The Crown referred usto other sentences imposed on lawyers who had
stolen from their clients. While the facts vary from case to case, the names of the
cases and the sentencesimposed are asfollows: R. v. Gruson, [1963] 1 C.C.C.
240 (Ont. C.A.): 9years; R. v .Scherer (1984), 42 C.R. (3d) 376 (Ont. C.A.): 7
years, R. v. Gilhooly, [1986] B.C.J. No. 743 (B.C.C.A.): 4 years; R. v. Shandro,
[1985] A.J. No. 578 (Alta. C.A.): 3%2years;, R.v. Bowes, [1994] N.B.J. No. 472
(N.B.C.A)): 4% years; R. v. Klynkiw (1980), 53 C.C.C. (2d) 350 (Man. C.A.): 2
years, and R. v. John Errol Farr (1983), 9 W.C.B. 323 (Ont. C.A.): 5 years.

[167] All the sentence decisions to which the Crown has made reference were
Imposed before the new sentencing regime came into force.

[168] The appellant submits that the offences he committed were property
offences, that heis afirst time offender and that the sentence of a period of 5 years
in the penitentiary did not reflect the principle that “ all available sanctions other
than imprisonment that are reasonable in the circumstances should be considered
for al offenders, ... " (s. 718.2(e)).

[169] At the sentence hearing before Chief Justice Kennedy, the appellant’s
counsel did not submit that a conditional sentence ought to be imposed rather than
apenitentiary term. In fact, he suggested a term of imprisonment of between 2 and
2%2 years, which term would rule out a conditional sentence.

[170] The pre-sentence report discloses that the appellant was 49 years of age at
the time of the sentencing, that he has two university degrees, aB.A. and aB.Sc.,
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in addition to his law degree. Heisthe oldest of seven children and grew upina
somewhat dysfunctional environment in that his father was an alcoholic. The
appellant married in 1971. He hastwo children of that union, aged 14 and 11 at
the time of the sentencing. He was divorced in 1996. Since 1995, the appellant
has had a relationship with Ms. Susan Hutchinson. They have atwo year old child.
Susan Hutchinson is very supportive of him. At the time of the sentencing hearing
shewas taking a PhD. in the State of Georgia. Ms. Hutchinson wrotein a
submission made to Kennedy, C.J., prior to the sentencing hearing that the
appellant was the primary caregiver of the two year old and of the 14 year old son
of hismarriage. Ms. Hutchinson suggested house arrest. She wrote a compelling
letter outlining the devastating effect imprisonment would have on the appellant’s
children. As previously noted, counsel for the appellant did not make a submission
to thetrial judge that a conditional sentence would be appropriate. It isquite clear
that Chief Justice Kennedy did not expressly consider this possibility. We would
infer from his remarks that he was firmly of the view that the offences required a
substantial period of incarceration because the appellant abused a position of trust.
That is an aggravating circumstance that Parliament has directed should increase a
sentence (Criminal Code, s. 718.2(a)(iii)).

[171] InR. v. Proulx (2000), 140 C.C.C. (3d) 449 (S.C.C.), the Court stated that a
conditional sentence will generally be more effective than incarceration to achieve
the restorative objectives of rehabilitation because the sentence will be served in
the community. However, it is quite obvious that such a sentence may not
adequately achieve the objectives of denunciation and deterrence which are
relevant factors to be considered in sentencing lawyers who steal from their clients
trust accounts. It isclear from Chief Justice Kennedy’s decision that he considered
the principles of denunciation and deterrence in imposing a significant period of
incarceration on the appellant. In Proulx, the Supreme Court has expressed the
view that Parliament has mandated that an expanded use be made of restorative
principles because of the general failure of incarceration to rehabilitate offenders.
In our opinion, the prospect of asignificant period of incarceration should alawyer
steal trust funds from his clients is a strong deterrent that protects society from
such acts by lawyers, and contributes to respect for the law and the maintenance of
ajust, peaceful and safe society (s.718).

[172] Chief Justice Kennedy did not err in failing to impose a conditional sentence
on the appellant.
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[173] The sentence imposed by Chief Justice Kennedy accords with the principles
of sentencing for the following reasons:. (i) the sentence reflects the principle of
denunciation and deterrence (s. 718(a) and (b)); the sentence promotes a sense of
responsibility in the offender (s. 718(f)); (iii) the sentence reflects the aggravating
circumstance that the appellant abused a position of trust (s. 718.2(iii)); and, (iv)
the sentence reflects the principle that a sentence should be “similar to sentences
imposed on similar offenders for similar offences committed in similar
circumstances’ (s. 718.2(b)).

[174] While one may have sympathy and concern for the appellant’ s children, his
common law wife and the appellant himself who is suffering from depression,
Chief Justice Kennedy was aware of all of these facts and of the submissions made
on the appellant’ s behalf. We are satisfied that Chief Justice Kennedy did not
over-emphasize general deterrence nor did he overlook relevant factors. Emphasis
on general deterrence is quite appropriate when sentencing lawyers who steal trust
funds from their clients. Chief Justice Kennedy felt it appropriate that he remind
members of the Bar of the serious consequences of stealing trust funds. Thiswas
not an error in principle considering the length of time over which the appellant
committed these offences, the extent of his deception, and the large sums involved.
Denunciation and deterrence are express objectives that may be applied with the
hope of achieving the fundamental purpose of sentencing as defined in s. 718 of
the Criminal Code.

[175] The sentence of imprisonment was not inconsistent with the purposes and
principles of sentencing as provided for in the Criminal Code. The sentence of
five years imprisonment, considering the varying circumstances and varying
sentences imposed on like offenders (lawyers) for similar offences (theft from
clients' trust accounts), cannot be said to be demonstrably unfit for this offender
for these offences.

[176] In short, considering all the circumstances of the offences and the offender
and the purpose and principles of sentencing, as well as the deference owed by
appeal courts to sentences imposed by trial judges, the five year term of
imprisonment imposed on the appellant is within an acceptable range and ought not
to be disturbed.
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[177] Whether sentences are to be served concurrently or consecutively isin the
discretion of the sentencing judge (MacDonell v. The Queen (1997), 114 C.C.C.
(3d) 436 (S.C.C.). Thefact that the trial judge would not sever the countsis of
insignificant relevance as Chief Justice Kennedy recognized that the totality of the
sentences was what was critical in the exercise of hisdiscretion. Thiswas an
appropriate case in which to impose consecutive sentences.

The Restitution Order

[178] On appeal the appellant submits that there should not have been an order for
restitution as the sentencing judge did not have jurisdiction to make such an order
nor was there afactual basis for making the order he did. With respect, we
disagree with both submissions except to the extent of reducing the amount of
restitution to be paid from $196,094.15 to $182,245.00 in order to correct a
mathematical error, as proposed by the Crown.

[179] Section 738(1)(a) of the Criminal Code provides:

738. (1) Where an offender is convicted or discharged under section 730 of an
offence, the court imposing sentence on or discharging the offender may, on
application of the Attorney General or on its own motion, in addition to any other
measure imposed on the offender, order that the offender make restitution to
another person as follows:

€) in the case of damage to, or the loss or destruction of, the property of any
person as aresult of the commission of the offence or the arrest or
attempted replacement value of the property as of the date the order is
imposed, less the value of any part of the property that is returned to that
person as of the date it is returned, where the amount is readily
ascertainable;

[180] Section 39 of the Barristers and Solicitors Act, R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 30,
provides that where a payment is made from the reimbursement Fund of the
Barristers' Society to cover theft by a member from a client of the member that the
Fund is subrogated to the rights and remedies to which the client was entitled as
against the member of the Bar Society.
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[181] InR. v. Fitzgibbon, [1990] 1 S.C.R. 1005; (1990), 55 C.C.C. (3d) 449, the
Supreme Court of Canada had occasion to consider the meaning and effect of s.

653 of the Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-34 (a predecessor to s. 738), and to
consider provisions of the Law Society Act of Ontario similar to s. 39 of the Nova
ScotiaBarristers and Solicitors' Act.

[182] Section 653 was worded as follows:

653 (1) A court that convicts an accused of an indictable offence may,
upon the application of a person aggrieved, at the time sentence is imposed, order
the accused to pay to that person an amount by way of satisfaction or
compensation for loss of or damage to property suffered by the applicant asa
result of the commission of the offence of which the accused is convicted.

(2 Where an amount that is ordered to be paid under subsection (1) is
not paid forthwith the applicant may, by filing the order, enter as ajudgment, in
the superior court of the province in which the trial was held, the amount ordered
to be paid, and that judgment is enforceabl e against the accused in the same
manner asif it were a judgment rendered against the accused in that court in civil
proceedings.

[183] We have compared s. 653 to s. 738(1)(a) and we are satisfied that the
provisions of s. 738(1)(a) are broader in scope than s. 653 considered in
Fitzgibbon. We are also satisfied that the reasoning of the Court in Fitzgibbon,
relevant to the jurisdictional issue, and the reasoning as to what circumstances
warrant the making of arestitution order are applicable in considering whether
such an order ought to be made pursuant to s. 738(1)(a).

[184] With respect to the jurisdictional issue, this question is fully answered by
referenceto s. 738(1)(a) of the Criminal Code, s. 39 of the Barristers and
Solicitors Act and the decision of the Supreme Court of Canadain Fitzgibbon,
supra. Clearly, Chief Justice Kennedy had jurisdiction to make arestitution order
in favour of the Barristers Society provided the facts before the Court were
sufficient to readily prove the amount of the loss and warranted the making of such
order.

[185] We are satisfied that both the Jewers' estate and John Ross are persons who
had lost property as aresult of the commission of offences by the appellant and
would be entitled to an amount not exceeding the replacement value of the
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property lost. Mr. Brookfield, in histrial evidence, quantified the loss to the
Jewers estate at $121,747.70 and that 75% of this loss was reimbursed by the
Barristers' Society to the Jewers' estate. Mr. Brookfield s evidence also shows
that the loss to John Ross totalled $121,500.29 and that he had been reimbursed by
the Barristers Society to the extent of 75%. These amounts were not challenged by
Mr. Wood at the sentencing hearing. The evidence supports a finding that the
Barristers' Society would have paid out $182,435.99 to the appellant’s clients. The
Barristers' Society is subrogated to their rights without further proof and without
the need to commence civil proceedings (s. 39 Barristers and Solicitors’ Act,
supra, and Fitzgibbon).

[186] Asisclear from Fitzgibbon, supra, the power to make a concurrent order
for restitution as part of the sentencing processis discretionary.

[187] Asagenerd rule, the ability to pay is afactor to be considered by a
sentencing judge who is contemplating making arestitution order (R. v. Zelensky,
[1978] 2 S.C.R. 940; 41 C.C.C. (2d) 97; 86 D.L.R. (3d) 179). Thereisno evidence
asto the ability of the appellant to pay the restitution order. However, itisa
reasonable inference that his ability to comply with the order is doubtful. That
said, the Supreme Court of Canadain Fitzgibbon clearly states that ability to pay,
with respect to alawyer who has stolen from his clients, is not the paramount
consideration. The Court stated at 55 C.C.C. (3d) 456:

The appellant was a lawyer who defrauded his clients. He used his position to
defraud the very persons who had every reason to trust and rely upon him. The
fraudulent acts of alawyer directed against his own clients warranted the
imposition of a compensation order even though the lawyer’s means at the time of
sentencing were minimal. The claims of the victims of fraudulent acts should be
paramount. This seemsto be recognized by s. 148 (now s. 178) of the Bankruptcy
Act. That section provides that the discharge of a bankrupt does not release him
from any debt or liability arising out of afraudulent act committed by him while
acting in afiduciary capacity.

(emphasis added)

[188] In view of the foregoing authority, it cannot be said that Chief Justice
Kennedy erred in granting the restitution order.

[189] We have been advised that the Barristers' Society has now fully reimbursed
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the Blanche Jewers' Estate and John Ross. Apart from the appellant’s
submissions, which we have rejected, there has not been any submission to us that
the order be varied other than to correct the amount of restitution ordered
($196,094.15), to $182,425.00.

Conclusion

[190] The appellant stole from his clients. Chief Justice Kennedy’s decision to
Impose afive year term of imprisonment plus ordering restitution speaksto the
need to stress denunciation and deterrence in the sentencing of lawyers who steal
fromtheir clients. The sentence is not demonstrably unfit. It is entitled to
deference from this court. Accordingly, this court shall not interfere with the
exercise of the sentencing judge’ s discretion, either with respect to the length of the
penitentiary term or the making of the restitution order, with the exception of
varying that order to reduce the amount ordered to be paid by the appellant from
$196, 094.15 to $182,425.99.

[191] Leaveto appeal isgranted. The amount of the restitution order is varied to
$182,425.99. In all other respects the appeal from sentence is dismissed.

Roscoe, J.A

Hallett, J.A.

Cromweéll, JA.



